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Chair’s 
Statement

Dear Members of The Stafford Building Society, 

I am delighted to again present the Chair’s Statement for The Stafford Building 
Society for the last financial year. I can report on another year of achievement 
and growth. The economic environment was pleasingly somewhat more 
settled over the year. This has enabled your Society to continue its growth and 
success in serving our Members and communities. The change of government 
in July may lead to further opportunities to develop products and services of 
increasing benefit to our Members. As introduced at last year’s AGM, we have 
also rebranded the Society to ‘The Stafford Building Society’, a move which 
I’m happy to say has been very well received, ending any confusion with 
whether Members have to have a railway connection.

Financial Performance
The Society has continued to exhibit robust 
financial performance. Our assets have grown 
together with an increase in Member savings and 
deposits. We have again maintained a strong 
capital position. Our total assets now stand at 
£324.06m (2023: £307.99m). Our mortgage 
lending was £56.52m (2023: £57.09m) and our 
membership has also risen by some 147 new 
Members. We have also been able to make a 
profit of £1.01m (2023: £1.60m) to enable our 
continued investment in the future of your 
Society.

Community Engagement
This year, as is detailed in the Chief Executive’s 
report, we focused our community work in 
areas which you, our Members, identified as 
of key interest. This was through the survey we 
conducted around last year’s AGM. May I say a 
thank you to the large number who responded 
to that survey. It gave us great insight into areas 
for improvement as well as support for things we 
do well.

Technology and Innovation
This has been a key year in our thinking about 
technology. The provider of our core system 
(which we use for all banking, financial and 
Member contact), Mutual Vision (‘MV’), 
announced that they are replacing their system 
over the next few years with a more modern 
and responsive version. This led to a significant 
amount of work for us to decide whether to stay 
with them through this change or to seek an 
alternative provider. After considerable work led 
through our IT Committee, for which I thank them, 
we have decided that the right course of action 
for us is to remain with MV. This will lead to a few 
years of major investment and support from us, 
which we are planning carefully to try to ensure 
a balance of investment here with ongoing 
development and growth in Members’ interests. In 
the medium term this change will enable us to far 
better support Members’ aspirations in the digital 
environment.
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Customer-Centric Approach
Enhancing our Member journey and learning 
from feedback has been a key part of our work 
this year. The Regulatory requirement to evidence 
our “Consumer Duty” led to focus on a number 
of processes or procedures where improvements 
could be made. I’m pleased to say that in July the 
Board were able to sign off that we believe we 
have met our assessed requirements. We will now 
continue to embed and further develop our work 
in this area, always listening to the insights you, 
our Members, provide.

Environmental and Social 
Responsibilities
As responsible stewards of our environment, 
we have continued to take steps to reduce 
our ecological footprint. Our commitment to 
sustainable and socially responsible business 
remains a fundamental part of our operations, 
ensuring we contribute positively to the world we 
live in. 

Outlook
Looking ahead, we remain committed to the 
principles that have guided our success thus far. 
As I said last year however, the challenges that 
lie ahead will undoubtedly test our resilience, but 
I have no doubt that we will emerge stronger, 
more adaptable, and better equipped to serve our 
Members and communities.

In conclusion, I extend my heartfelt thanks to 
our Members, staff, and the dedicated Board of 
Directors for their unwavering support and hard 
work. Board membership has changed in the 
year with Chris Reid, our Finance Director, leaving 
in August. I welcome Matthew Rowell as his 
replacement.

In addition, Gary Crowe, who has chaired the 
Audit Committee for us for a number of years, 
retires at the forthcoming AGM. We have 
recruited Jonathan Farrington to replace him, who 
brings a number of years’ experience of such 
a role from another Society. We also replaced 
Mary Kerr, who left last year, with Ray Milne. We 
welcome both Jonathan and Ray.

Together, we have continued building a thriving 
and sustainable Society that makes a positive 
impact. Our plans for next year are for another 
year of growth and success, and I am confident 
that our collective efforts will ensure a prosperous 
future for our organisation.

Joanne Hindle, Chair 
17 December 2024
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I recognise that our financial performance 
would not have been possible without you, 
our Members, and therefore extend my 
sincere gratitude for the trust and support you 
consistently place in us.

Brand
At the beginning of March, the Society launched 
its improved website, offering simplified 
navigation, a modern design, and new Member-
focused features, more fitting to the digital era 
in which we live. That coincided with the official 
unveiling at the AGM of the new reinvigorated 
brand, namely ‘The Stafford Building Society’, 
and accompanying colour scheme, subsequently 
widely promoted to Members by email, on social 
media, and in the branch. I am grateful for the 
overwhelmingly positive reception from you, 
the Members. As your Society embarks on this 
new chapter of its proud history, rest assured 
our commitment to you, our Members remains 
undiminished.

Financial Review
Our financial performance is considered in detail 
in the accompanying Strategic Report, but I 
would like to personally take this opportunity to 
share several highlights in the paragraphs that 
follow.

Overall, the total assets of your Society grew 
by 5.22% (2023: 5.64%) to £324.06m (2023: 
£307.99m), wholly funded by retail savings. Our 

balance sheet growth reflects a commendable 
performance, particularly in the face of 
heightened competition for both retail deposits 
and mortgage lending, as well as broader 
economic challenges, including fluctuating 
consumer confidence, ongoing pressures on 
disposable income, and uncertainty around 
interest rates.

Mortgage Balances 
We entered our 2024 financial year with 
subdued mortgage and housing markets, but it 
is pleasing that latterly we have seen a degree 
of improvement and growing confidence in both. 
During the year we have grown our mortgage 
book to £237.10m (2023: £223.21m), an uplift of 
6.23% (2023: 10.36%).

Mortgage advances of £56.52m (2023: £57.09m) 
were achieved through our tailored product range 
and the appeal of our personalised underwriting 
approach reflecting the unique needs and 
circumstances of borrowers, whilst adhering to 
our credit risk parameters.

Throughout the year, arrears have remained low, 
evidencing the effectiveness of our responsible 
lending practices and rigorous underwriting 
standards. Nevertheless, we remain attentive to 
the challenges that borrowers may encounter and 
we are committed to supporting those borrowers 
who are facing financial difficulties by offering a 
range of tailored forbearance options.

It is with pleasure that I can report another successful year for your Society, 
not just in terms of our satisfying financial performance, but also in terms 
of our engagement with you, our Members, and our ongoing journey of 
investment in the Society’s IT infrastructure and colleagues. All of which 
underscore our purpose of being a ‘community and service led Society 
helping to make home ownership and saving a reality’.

Chief Executive’s 
Report
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Retail Savings 
Thanks to the continued support of our Members, 
we have achieved strong growth in our savings 
balances which at £295.77m, represent a 5.38% 
increase on the previous year’s £280.68m. This 
has been achieved by offering a flexible product 
portfolio designed to suit a range of individual 
circumstances, including instant access, notice, 
and ISA accounts. Looking forward, we remain 
committed to further enhancing our portfolio 
and refining the ways we deliver value to our 
Members.

Capital 
Capital is fundamental to the Society’s ability to 
operate securely, grow responsibly, and protect 
our Members’ interests over the long term. During 
2024, our capital reserves have increased by 
3.76% to £27.45m (2023: £26.46m), demonstrating 
the financial health of your Society.

Profitability 
Profit for the year, the Society’s only source of 
capital, was £1.01m (2023: £1.60m), in line with 
budgeted expectations. The reduction on the 
previous year was due primarily to:

Net Interest Margin
In my 2023 report, I commented on the likely 
squeeze on our interest margin as we entered the 
2024 financial year. That expectation is reflected 
in the £395k reduction in net interest. This stems 
from our desire to meet the needs of both our 
borrowing and retail Members alike. Looking 
ahead, the Board remains vigilant about interest 
margin management, maintaining a careful 
balance of risk, return, and value to serve the best 
interests of all our Members.

Administration Expenses
Reported administration expenses of £5.02m 
includes £0.14m of costs relating to the 
investment made by the Society into the project 
to transform our core IT operating platform.

Underlying, business as usual, costs equate to 
£4.87m which is a year on year increase of 11.69%. 
This increase relates to prevailing inflationary 
pressures and the recruitment of new colleagues.

The significant investment allocated to the 
three-year duration of the transformation 
project has received comprehensive oversight 
from the Board, mindful that in today’s rapidly 
evolving digital landscape, success ever more 
depends on technological resilience and 
adaptability. Although the one-off project costs 
will temporarily reduce annual profitability, they 
will not compromise the capital strength of your 
Society.

Colleague Engagement and 
Development
We are deeply committed to fostering a culture 
that values colleague retention, attracts top 
talent, and actively supports the growth and 
development of our team. Over the past year, we 
had the pleasure of welcoming 16 new colleagues 
to our Society, each bringing unique skills and 
experiences that have enriched our capabilities 
and team dynamic.

Our commitment extends to the continued 
investment in the personal and professional 
development of our existing colleagues. We 
believe that nurturing growth strengthens 
adaptability, particularly in the ever evolving 
financial services landscape. To this end, we 
prioritised colleague engagement and launched 
an engagement survey to identify areas for 
improvement while celebrating our successes.

Building on the insights gained, we established 
the Colleague Engagement Forum, composed 
of representatives from across the Society. 
This forum meets regularly to review feedback, 
provide recommendations, and drive continuous 
improvement. Through its efforts, we proudly 
achieved accreditation against the United 
Nations Sustainable Development Goals, with 
a focus on three key goals: Good Health and 
Wellbeing, Quality Education, and Decent Work 
and Economic Growth. Notably, we are now an 
accredited Living Wage Employer, underscoring 
our commitment to being a responsible and fair 
employer.
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Promoting Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion (‘EDI’) 
and prioritising colleague wellbeing remain at the 
core of our culture. These principles are central to 
the Forum’s agenda and reflect our unwavering 
dedication to maintaining a positive and inclusive 
work environment.

Our impact extends beyond our workplace, 
reflecting our shared commitment to supporting 
local communities. Feedback from last year’s 
AGM notice survey highlighted the importance 
of this priority to both colleagues and Members. 
In response, we not only contribute financially 
but also encourage active participation. Many 
colleagues volunteer their time to local charities 
and not-for-profit organisations, taking advantage 
of the five paid volunteer days provided 
annually. These initiatives further strengthen our 
community engagement and impact.

I am immensely proud of our team’s dedication, 
expertise, and professionalism. These qualities 
are integral to our continued success. To every 
colleague, I extend my heartfelt thanks and 
appreciation for their outstanding contributions 
over the past year.

Member Engagement 
I am pleased to report a notable increase in 
membership over the past year, reflecting both 
our Members’ confidence in the Society and the 
attraction of our products and services. 

Our relationship with you, our Member, is built 
on a commitment to understand and anticipate 
your needs. Your feedback is invaluable, serving 
both as a confirmation of our positive impact and 
a tool for identifying areas where we can further 
enhance our service, product portfolio, and your 
experience with us. I would therefore encourage 
you to take an active role in shaping our future 
by participating in the various surveys initiated 
by the Society, as your input is essential to our 
shared success.

Climate Change
We recognise the significant challenge that 
climate change presents to us all. We remain 
attentive to your Society’s carbon footprint, 
consistently striving for opportunities to reduce 
it through initiatives scaled to our size. Taking a 
long term perspective, we regularly evaluate the 

risks that climate change poses to our capital for 
the purposes of our future strategic reviews, with 
particular focus on threats such as flooding and 
coastal erosion.

Economic Outlook
Looking ahead, the geopolitical landscape 
remains uncertain, with the full implications of the 
recent Budget Statement and broader political 
developments still unfolding. Nevertheless, the 
outlook for the UK is positive, characterised 
by GDP growth, stable employment levels, and 
anticipated reductions in the Bank Base Rate, the 
timing of which will hinge on continued progress 
in reducing inflation. Together, these factors are 
expected to stimulate consumer confidence and 
provide additional momentum to the housing 
market.

AGM 
I am particularly proud that in 2024 your Society 
achieved the highest Member voting percentage 
within our sector. I look forward to welcoming you 
again to our AGM on 18 February 2025, where 
I, alongside fellow Directors and Colleagues, 
will welcome the opportunity to discuss our 
performance and any other feedback regarding 
your Society that you may have.

Steven Jones, Chief Executive 
17 December 2024
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Business Strategy and Objectives
The principal business objective of the Society is 
to provide a safe and secure home for Members’ 
savings whilst offering secured lending on 
residential property in order to support home 
ownership. Mortgage activity is funded by offering 
traditional retail savings products which are 
competitive, easy to understand and designed to 
attract savings from individuals and businesses 
alike.

Our values which drive the strategy are:

•	 Energise: ‘We promote an environment that 
invigorates and motivates Colleagues to excel 
in all that they do. We believe in consistently 
providing a tailored service and steadfast 
support in meeting the needs of our Members, 
Colleagues, and local community.’

•	 Engage: ‘We promote a culture of engagement 
where Colleagues feel a profound sense 
of belonging and purpose. Through open 
communication, collaboration, and active 
participation in decision making, we empower 
them to deliver on our commitment to fostering 
strong, lasting relationships with Members and 
stakeholders, communicating clearly and in 
a timely manner to deliver positive outcomes 
for all.’

•	 Enable: ‘We enable Colleagues to thrive by 
providing bespoke support, training and 
developmental opportunities allowing them 
to reach their full potential. This supports 
our commitment to be able to provide our 
Members with straightforward, fair, and 
competitive home ownership and savings 
products’.

•	 Empathise: ‘Empathy serves as the 
cornerstone of our ethos. Our commitment 
to thoughtfulness, patience, and kindness 
extends to supporting individuals in all 
circumstances, believing that compassion and 
consideration are fundamental to building a 

better society for all.’

To enable us to adhere to our core values, we 
put the Member at the forefront of everything 
we do. The purpose statement for the Society, 
which underpins all of our activities, and acts as 
a guiding principle for all that we do as a mutual 
organisation, is as follows:

‘We are a community and 
service led Society, helping 
to make saving and home 

ownership a reality.’

The Corporate Plan for the forthcoming financial 
years retains our focus on community and 
engagement, with a strategy to build on the areas 
of financial education and enhancing our work 
with partners that support mental health and 
wellbeing.

Business Review and Key Performance 
Indicators
The Society’s performance against its key 
performance indicators has been robust in the 
financial year ended 31 October 2024. The Society 
has continued to grow retail savings and mortgage 
balances and has done so with a continued focus 
on investment and its long term strength and 
stability.

The Society enters the forthcoming financial year 
well positioned with regards to mortgage pipeline, 
with a controlled level of growth planned for 
the mortgage book, consistent with our current 
approach and risk appetite.

Strategic 
Report
The Directors are pleased to present their Annual Report, together with the 
Society’s Accounts and Annual Business Statement for the year ended 31 
October 2024
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Key Performance Indicators
The Board use a number of key performance indicators to monitor the development, performance and 
position of the Society. These are included below to allow Members to gain a more comprehensive 
understanding of the Society’s performance over the last three years.

Key Performance Indicators 2024 2023 2022 

Net interest margin (% of mean total assets) 1.96% 2.19% 1.88% 

Administrative expenses (% of mean total assets) 1.54% 1.46% 1.31% 

Administrative expenses - Including IT costs (% of mean total assets) 1.59% 1.46% 1.31%

Cost /income ratio 78.71% 66.18% 69.34% 

Cost /income ratio - Including IT costs 81.04% 66.18% 69.34%

Profit for the financial year £1.01m £1.60m £1.17m 

Profit for the financial year (% of mean total assets) 0.32% 0.53% 0.40% 

Total assets growth 5.22% 5.64% (2.63%) 

Gross mortgage advances £56.52m £57.09m £43.40m 

Mortgage assets growth 6.23% 10.36% 0.08% 

Liquid assets (% of shares and amounts owed to other customers) 29.11% 29.92% 33.28% 

Shares and amounts owed to other customers growth 5.38% 5.59% (3.33%) 

Capital growth 3.76% 6.72% 4.80% 

Gross capital (% of shares and amounts owed to other customers) 9.28% 9.43% 9.33% 

Total reserves £27.45m £26.46m £24.79m 

Key Performance Indicators: Three years to 31 October 2024

Profitability
The Society seeks to make sufficient profits in order to invest in and grow the business for the benefit of 
its current and future Members. Profit enhances the Society’s financial strength and is necessary to meet 
the levels of capital, including protection buffers, required under the Capital Requirements Directive. 

Financial strength is imperative in protecting the Society against the principal risks and uncertainties it 
faces and in safeguarding Members’ funds.

Profit for the financial year of £1.01m (2023: £1.60m) represents 0.32% (2023: 0.53%) of the average of 
total assets at the beginning and end of the financial year. As at 31 October 2024 the Society’s reserves 
amounted to £27.45m (2023: £26.46m) and are at a level considered by the Board to offer adequate 
support for the business. 
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A summary of the Statement of Comprehensive Income, detailed on page 44, is as follows:

Summary Statement of Comprehensive Income 2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

2022 
£’000

Total net income 6,192 6,594 5,570 

Administrative expenses (4,803) (4,295) (3,780) 

Administrative expenses  - IT costs (144) - -

Depreciation (71) (69) (82) 

Operating profit before impairment losses and provisions 1,174 2,230 1,708 

Impairment movement on loans and advances 174 (161) (272) 

Profit before tax 1,348 2,069 1,436 

Tax expense (343) (467) (263) 

Profit for the financial year 1,005 1,602 1,173 
Summary Statement of Comprehensive Income: Three years to 31 October 2024

Total net income
Total net income of £6.19m (2023: £6.59m) 
represents net interest income (total interest 
receivable from mortgage and liquid assets less 
total interest payable on retail savings, fees and 
other operating income). Net interest income 
has decreased during the year and represents 
an interest margin of 1.96% (2023: 2.19%) which 
expresses net interest income as a percentage of 
the average of total assets at the beginning and 
end of the financial year.

The Board is ever-minded that the Society 
manages the interest margin by balancing the risks, 
rewards and value both to borrowing and retail 
savings Members. Recognising that our Standard 
Variable Rate (SVR) remains amongst the lowest in 
the industry, we decided to support retail savings 
Members by passing on the reduction in bank 
base rate in August 2024 to selected products 
only. At the same time, we issued two new savings 
products (Cash ISA 60 and the Pullman Triple 
Access account) which have both proved very 
popular. Going forward, as base rates change, we 
will continue to balance the needs of saving and 
borrowing Members alongside the requirement to 
run a sustainable business.

Administrative expenses
As we noted in last year’s Annual Report, we have 
continued our investment in your Society through 
the addition of new roles. This year also saw the 
commencement of our core system transformation 
project which will result in enhanced capabilities 

once completed. Coupled with continued inflation 
and additional spend on recruitment, this has 
resulted in core administrative expenses of £4.81m 
(2023: £4.30m). Together with depreciation they 
represent the total operating costs of the Society 
and, expressed as a percentage of the average 
of total assets at the beginning and end of the 
financial year, represent a management expenses 
ratio of 1.54% (2023: 1.46%).

We have also incurred expenditure in relation to 
the core system transformation of £144k, which 
takes our overall management expenses ratio 
to 1.59%. This investment will continue with our 
corporate plan including the completion of this 
project alongside the addition of further new 
roles as we continue to invest in our team so as 
to provide the best possible experience for our 
Members. As a result, our management expenses 
ratio is likely to temporarily increase over the next 
few years, as we complete our Core Transformation 
Project.

Impairment movement on loans and 
advances
The Society’s mortgage impairment policy makes 
provisions for any estimated losses resulting from 
loans that are impaired on either an individual or 
collective basis. Following the resolution of certain 
accounts against which provisions were made in 
the prior year, the overall provision has decreased 
by £174k in the year (2023: increase of £161k). 
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Statement of Financial Position at 31 October 2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

2022 
£’000

Liquid assets 86,095 83,968 88,457 

Loans and advances to customers 237,101 223,206 202,257 

Tangible fixed assets 538 556 606 

Deferred tax and other debtors 330 258 215 

Total assets 324,064 307,988 291,535 

Shares and amounts owed to other customers 295,765 280,675 265,827 

Other liabilities, accruals and deferred income 847 856 916 

Reserves attributable to Members of the Society 27,452 26,457 24,792 

Total reserves and liabilities 324,064 307,988 291,535 

Summary Statement of Financial Position: Three years to 31 October 2024

Total assets
Total assets have increased by 5.22% (2023: 
increase of 5.64%) to £324.06m (2023: £307.99m). 
This is a combination of mortgage growth coupled 
with maintaining a suitable level of liquidity.

Loans and advances to customers
Mortgage balances have increased by £13.90m in 
the year to £237.10m (2023: increase of £20.95m). 
Gross lending (the total value of new mortgage 
advances) of £56.52m is the second highest on 
record. This equates to 6.23% mortgage assets 
growth in the year (2023: 10.36%).

The Society continues to closely monitor all 
lending decisions, adopting a common sense 
and responsible approach to new lending in 
order to maintain a high quality loan book. All 
mortgage cases are fully assessed by our internal 
Underwriting Team in preference to automated 
credit scoring. This personalised approach enables 
each case to be individually assessed on its 
own merits, which includes the assessment that 
borrowers have adequate repayment affordability, 
allowing for the impact of potential future interest 
rate increases. 

Key market segments for mortgage lending include 
Residential house purchase and re-mortgages, 
Joint Borrower Sole Proprietor, Buy to Let, Self-
Build and Lending into Retirement. Following the 
successful issuance of a small amount of fixed rate 
mortgages in 2023, we expect to undertake further 
tranches in the forthcoming year, should markets 

permit. 

Looking forward, the Society will continue to 
widen its product portfolio to meet demand, whilst 
monitoring internal limit exposures to ensure no 
over reliance on a particular segment. 

The Society is mindful of the potential impacts that 
the ongoing cost of living challenges may present 
and stands ready to engage with and support our 
Members. Whilst it has declined from recent highs, 
the path for inflation remains uncertain against 
a backdrop of global instability. On the other 
hand, house prices have continued to rise and 
unemployment remains low by historical standards, 
meaning that there is cause for optimism in 
economic expectations.

Overall arrears remain at low levels, reflecting the 
Society’s robust underwriting approach which 
stress tests future borrower affordability. As at 
31 October 2024, the Society had no (2023: nil) 
mortgage accounts 12 months or more in arrears. 
There were five mortgage accounts over 3 months 
in arrears (2023: ten).

The Society proactively contacts all borrowers 
whose mortgage accounts have gone into arrears 
to enable a mutually acceptable action plan to 
return the account to a fully performing status. 
Despite the Society’s best efforts to help borrowers 
in such circumstances there are occasions when 
properties are repossessed. As at 31 October 2024 
the Society had nil properties in possession (2023: 
nil).
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In certain circumstances the Society uses 
forbearance measures to assist those borrowers 
who are experiencing financial difficulty, for 
example, agreeing a temporary transfer to interest 
only payments in order to reduce the borrower’s 
financial pressures. At all times an individual 
assessment is made to ensure forbearance is in the 
best interests of both the borrower and the Society. 
It is expected that the borrowers will resume 
normal payments once they are able.

The Society’s Credit Committee, chaired by the 
Chief Operating Officer, assesses the impact 
of forbearance and monitors whether there is a 
possibility of loss, in which case an impairment 
provision is made in accordance with the Society’s 
policies. As at 31 October 2024, there were 
five (2023: seven) accounts under forbearance 
measures, with those accounts assessed 
individually for impairment.

Other criteria, alongside forbearance, are used 
as triggers for inclusion in individual impairment 
modelling, with a total of three (2023: four) 
individual impairment provisions required. This 
resulted in an individual impairment provision 
total of £173k (2023: £306k) where the Society’s 
model indicated a potential shortfall in collateral 
compared to the outstanding balance.

In addition to individual impairment modelling, 
which is subject to specific criteria being met, 
the Society regularly undertakes an assessment 
on a collective basis across its full mortgage 
book. There has been a decrease in the level 
of loan impairment provisions applied using 
this methodology, with the collective provision 
decreasing to £256k (2023: £325k).

This results in a total provision of £429k (2023: 
£631k) which represents a decrease in relation to 
the overall ratio of provisions to the Society’s gross 
mortgage book, to 0.18% (2023: 0.28%).

Liquidity
Total liquid assets as at 31 October 2024 amounted 
to £86.10m (2023: £83.97m), as liquidity increased 
by 2.53% (2023: reduction of 5.07%). Total liquid 
assets include £64.44m (2023: £68.92m) deposited 
in the Bank of England Reserve Account and 
invested in Government Treasury Bills, which are 
classed as a high-quality liquid asset and qualifies 
for the Society’s liquidity buffer.

The ratio of total liquid assets to total shares and 
amounts owed to other customers was subject to 
a controlled reduction during the financial year to 
29.11% (2023: 29.92%), in line with the Society’s 
target.

The Society maintains its liquidity in a range of 
assets which are highly liquid and realisable at 
short notice, with counterparties whose external 
credit ratings meet the Society’s Board Risk 
Appetite. This is a key indicator that a counterparty 
can meet its financial obligations as they fall due 
under normal and stressed scenarios. The Society 
has no exposure to any counterparty outside of 
the UK.

The Society conducts an Internal Liquidity 
Adequacy Assessment Process (‘ILAAP’) at least 
annually and the resulting key performance and 
key risk indicators are embedded in the Society’s 
ongoing monitoring of its liquidity position. This 
enables the Board to identify and monitor the 
potential liquidity related risks and risk drivers 
it may face under both normal and stressed 
conditions. The level of liquidity held at 31 October 
2024 is significantly in excess of the Board’s 
internal assessment of minimum requirements.

The Society monitors and reports its levels of 
liquidity in relation to measures introduced by the 
Prudential Regulation Authority (‘PRA’) under 
the Capital Requirements Directive IV (‘CRD IV’). 
Specifically the Liquidity Coverage Ratio (‘LCR’) 
which measures unencumbered high quality liquid 
assets as a percentage of net cash outflows over a 
30 day stress period. The LCR is reported monthly 
and as at 31 October 2024 was 447.67% (2023: 
541.37%), which is comfortably in excess of the 
minimum regulatory limit of 100%.

Shares and amounts due to other 
customers
The Society aims to attract a level of savings 
balances that enable funding of both mortgage 
advances and liquidity requirements, whilst offering 
a mix of products which meet the needs of our 
Members.

Our core approach remains to focus on operating 
fairly, with simple product design, attractive terms 
and conditions and delivering long-term Member 
value. Current interest rates are benchmarked 
to the marketplace to monitor trends, and most 
importantly, ensure our Members remain at the 
heart of any decisions that we make.
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Shares and amounts due to other customers’ 
balances at 31 October 2024 were £295.77m (2023: 
£280.68m), an increase of £15.09m or 5.38% 
(2023: increase of 5.59%) on the previous year. 
This level of increase has been targeted to support 
the higher levels of growth in the mortgage book 
during the financial year and to ensure sufficient 
ongoing funding to support the mortgage pipeline.

The Society successfully offered its first 2 year fixed 
rate savings bond in 2023 and plans to offer this 
product again periodically in the coming year. The 
Society will continue to offer a broad range of 
savings accounts to meet the needs of Members 
and assess ways in which to further enhance the 
range of products available, ensuring a suitable 
ongoing level of retail growth to support mortgage 
advances.

Reserves
Total reserves as at 31 October 2024 amounted to 
£27.45m (2023: £26.46m), with the gross capital 
ratio of 9.28% (2023: 9.43%) and free capital ratio 
of 9.19% (2023: 9.34%). Included in total reserves 
is the Available-For-Sale Reserve (‘AFS’) which 
represents any unrealised gains or losses on liquid 
assets accounted for at fair value at the balance 
sheet date. At 31 October 2024 the AFS reserve 
was £(12)k (2023: £(2)k).

Capital (‘Basel III/Capital Requirements 
Directive IV basis’) (Unaudited)
The Directors ensure that a satisfactory level 
of capital is maintained to protect the Society 
against adverse market movements or changes in 
economic conditions.

Total Capital and 
Risk Weighted Assets 

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

2022 
£’000

Tier 1 capital 27,452 26,457 24,792 

Tier 2 capital 256 325 244 

Total capital 27,708 26,782 25,036 

Risk weighted assets:

Liquid assets 7,809 5,450 7,848 

Loan and advances to 
customers 

83,589 79,045 72,046 

Other assets 907 815 1,126 

Mortgage Commitments 1,857 1,744 1,178 

Operational risk 11,472 10,453 9,100 

Total 105,634 97,507 91,298 

Total Capital and Risk Weighted Assets: Three years to 31 October 2024

Capital Ratios 2024 
%

2023 
%

2022 
%

Common Equity Tier 1 25.96 27.13 27.16 

Gross Capital ratio 9.28 9.43 9.33 

Leverage ratio 8.33 8.44 8.39 

Capital Ratios: Three years to 31 October 2024

The Common Equity Tier 1 (‘CET1’) ratio expresses 
tier 1 capital as a percentage of risk weighted 
assets. The leverage ratio expresses tier 1 capital 
as a percentage of total assets, mortgage 
impairments and a proportion of mortgage 
pipeline commitments.

As at 31 October 2024 the CET1 ratio was 
25.96% (2023: 27.13%) and the leverage ratio 
was 8.33% (2023: 8.44%). Tier 1 capital (Total 
reserves attributable to Members of the Society) 
was £27.45m (2023: £26.46m) and tier 2 capital 
(Collective impairment losses on loans and 
advances) was £0.26m (2023: £0.33m), providing 
total Capital Resources of £27.71m (2023: £26.78m).

The Society’s CET1 and leverage ratios have fallen 
during 2024, driven by increased risk weighted 
assets following growth in mortgage balances 
combined with lower profits, reduced interest 
margin and increased administrative expenses. 
It should be noted that the Society remains well 
above the regulatory minimums set by the PRA of 
7.00% for CET1 and 3.25% for the leverage ratio.

The Board complies with the Capital Requirements 
Directive IV (CRD IV), which requires the Society 
to assess the adequacy of its capital strength 
through an Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment 
Process (‘ICAAP’). Through the ICAAP the 
Board is satisfied that the Society holds a level of 
capital more than sufficient to satisfy the Capital 
Requirements Directive’s Pillar 1 minimum capital 
requirements and additional Pillar 2 capital to 
mitigate the principal risks to which the Society is 
exposed. The Board approves the ICAAP on an 
annual basis and it is reviewed by the Society’s 
Regulator in setting the Society’s Total Capital 
Requirement (‘TCR’). Monitoring of Capital 
adequacy is embedded in the Society’s regular 
management information and in the planning 
process.

This is an area of regulatory change in the form of 
the new Strong and Simple framework for smaller 
firms including the Society. We have applied 
for, and been accepted into, the framework for 
which consultation is ongoing in respect of the 
capital aspects. The Society has undertaken an 
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assessment of the capital impacts of the new 
framework, based upon the current proposals, and 
are satisfied there should not be a negative impact 
on the capital position. The Strong and Simple 
framework has already introduced beneficial 
simplifications in the Society’s liquidity approach 
and has removed the requirement to produce 
Pillar 3 disclosures. The Society also remains 
hopeful that the framework could introduce further 
simplification for firms of our size.

Risk Management Report
Risk Overview
The Board recognises that risk is inherent in the 
nature of being a Building Society. It recognises 
that risk can never be eliminated entirely, though 
through effective risk management, risks can 
be mitigated to levels aligned to the Board’s risk 
appetite. 

The Board has agreed a risk appetite that 
establishes the amount of risk acceptable to the 
business in pursuit of its strategy; helping the 
Society achieve sustainable growth and deliver 
good outcomes for our Members and Customers. 
The Board’s risk appetite is reviewed at least 
annually to ensure that it continues to match the 
Society’s operating environment, strategy and risk 
management framework.

The Board is responsible for establishing 
procedures to manage risk, oversee the internal 
control framework and determine the nature 
and extent of risks the Society is willing to take in 
order to achieve its long-term strategic objectives, 
ensure operational resilience and make effective 
risk-based decisions. The Board meets these 
responsibilities by ensuring an effective Risk 
Management Framework (‘RMF’) is in place and 
using that framework to promote a risk aware 
culture that ensures all material risks are identified 
and mitigated in the pursuit of strategic objectives. 
The Board reviews the RMF annually.

Risk Strategy
Through the RMF, the Society aims to deliver the 
following strategic risk objectives:

•	 Clear articulation of the level of risk the 
Society is willing to take in pursuit of its long-
term strategic objectives;

•	 Risk is taken into account in every decision, 
from day-to-day operations to strategic 
resource allocation;

•	 Risk management activities are proportionate 
to the nature, scale, and complexity of the 
Society as it changes over time;

•	 There is a culture of compliance where 

regulatory requirements are followed in spirit 
and in letter;

•	 Operational incidents and failures of 
internal control are seen as a source of risk 
intelligence and an opportunity to learn and 
improve;

•	 The principles of risk management applied 
to the Society are extended to the wider 
enterprise, including key third party suppliers 
and fourth party impact; and

•	 To add value through challenge and 
independent oversight of business activities.

Risk Culture
An appropriate risk management culture is key in 
supporting the effective operation of the RMF and 
to enable informed risk-based decision making in 
the Society. 

The Society encourages risk taking within 
controlled boundaries where the expected rewards 
exceed the expected cost of that risk. The Board 
has created an environment for colleagues where 
integrating ownership and accountability, Member 
interests and respect are at the heart of the 
Society’s objectives, values and business practices.

The Board’s Risk Culture Statement is ‘to promote 
and support a risk culture enabling informed 
risk-based decision making within approved 
tolerances. The culture embodies individual 
ownership, management and mitigation of risks 
throughout the First Line of Defence, supported by 
an independent Second Line and an outsourced 
Third Line.’

Risk Management Framework (‘RMF’)
The Society’s RMF has established a formal, 
consistent process for the identification, 
prioritisation and management of risk. The Risk 
Function is responsible for overseeing the effective 
engagement of colleagues in the operation of 
the RMF, providing guidance, training as well as 
oversight and challenge. The Risk Committee 
establishes an appropriate tone through clear 
articulation of the Board’s risk appetite and 
values linked to the Society’s strategic objectives. 
This ensures that risk management forms an 
integral part of the Society’s activities, informing 
decision making and ensuring the engagement 
of all colleagues in the implementation of the 
RMF across the Society. To ensure effective risk 
management principles outlined within the RMF 
continue to be embedded and mature throughout 
the Society, Principal Risks are allocated Executive 
Owners (‘PROs’). Secondary Risk Owners (‘SROs’) 
are allocated Society wide risks as set out in the 
Society’s Risk Register, that, if they materialise 
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could crystallise a Principal Risk. The SROs are 
departmental Heads and play an essential role 
within the Society’ RMF supporting the Executive 
PROs through the implementation of the RMF in 
their departments, the collection and reporting of 
risk management information and promotion of a 
sound risk culture.

Risk Governance Structure
The Board retain overall accountability and 
ownership of the RMF and delegate to the Board’s 
Risk Committee the responsibility for ensuring 
the ongoing development, implementation, and 
enhancement of the Framework. The governance 
structure is robust, designed to promote open 
and constructive challenge and day to day risk 
oversight.

The Society also operates a management Risk and 
Compliance Committee (‘RCC’) which supports 
the Executive team to manage the day-to-day 
business of the Society. The responsibilities of the 
Committee include the assessment and control of 
risk, with matters raised at this Committee elevated 
if warranted to the Board’s Risk Committee or 
directly to the Board as appropriate.

Clear reporting lines from the management 
risk committees to Risk Committee are defined 
to ensure focus remains on areas that could 
significantly impact the Society, whilst enabling 
responsible colleagues to fulfil their accountabilities 
and responsibilities.

Risk Committee
The Risk Committee is comprised of four 
independent Non-Executive Directors. It is 
attended by the Executives, Head of Risk and 
other members of management as required.

The principal functions of the Risk Committee are 
to:

•	 Advise the Board on the overall risk appetite, 
tolerance and strategy as well as reviewing 
certain policies. In particular, the Committee 
monitors and reviews the consolidated risk 
picture across the Society;

•	 Consider the principal and emerging risks 
set out overleaf. The risks are identified 
and recorded in the Risk Register which 
is reviewed and monitored to ensure 
compliance with the Board’s risk appetite and 
achievement of the Corporate Plan;

•	 Receive standing reports on the Risk Register 

along with detailed risk management 
information that enables it to track 
performance against the risk appetite;

•	 Ensure the ongoing development and 
maintenance of the stress testing that 
underpins the ICAAP, ILAAP and Recovery 
Plan (‘RP’); and

•	 Ensure the ongoing development and 
maintenance of the RMF.

Three Lines of Defence Model Approach 
The Society’s RMF is based on a ‘Three Lines 
of Defence’ model. This embeds a structured 
approach throughout the Society ensuring 
that frameworks are in place with defined 
responsibilities, and reporting lines are resourced 
with experienced individuals who have a clear 
understanding of the risks facing the Society. The 
model is summarised below. 

First Line 
of Defence: 
Individual Risk 
Owners

Individuals and business areas identify, 
own and manage risks. They are 
responsible for:
• Implementing and monitoring 
adequate controls for mitigating 
identified risks;
• Identifying new and emerging risks; 
and
• Reporting both actual and potential 
risk events.

Second Line of 
Defence: Risk 
& Compliance 
Functions

The Risk and Compliance Functions 
facilitate the implementation of effective 
risk management, providing proactive 
challenge and oversight to operational 
business areas. This includes:
• Conducting independent risk-based 
monitoring and quality assurance 
reviews;
• Advising the First Line on business 
initiatives;
• Reviewing and acting on reported 
actual or potential risk events;
• Reporting to the Risk Committee; and
• Ensuring that the RMF remains up 
to date and aligned to The Society’s 
objectives.

Third Line of 
Defence: Internal 
Audit

Internal Audit provide the independent 
review and assurance on the 
effectiveness of the governance of risk 
management and internal controls.



17

The Stafford Building Society				    Annual Report & Accounts | 31 October 2024

Principal Risks and Uncertainties 
The Society’s exposure to current and emerging risks is closely tracked through the formal risk 
governance structure. The Society keeps the risks under close observation through risk reporting and 
measuring of performance against key risk indicators. The Society conducts regular horizon scanning 
to identify any new or emerging risks which could impact delivery of the Board’s strategy. The most 
significant risks to the Society’s strategy are detailed below, together with the actions being taken to 
mitigate those risks.

Principal Risk Society Approach Key Mitigation Actions

Strategy Risk 
The risks that affect or are created by 
the Society’s business strategy and 
strategic objectives. Risks arising  
from changes to the Society’s business 
model and the risk of the Plan proving 
inappropriate due to macroeconomic, 
geopolitical, regulatory, or other 
factors such as the rate of pace 
of technological innovations and 
development.

The Board has a moderate risk 
tolerance for strategic risks, 
understanding that some level of 
uncertainty is inherent in pursuing 
strategic initiatives. We seek to 
balance risk and reward, avoiding 
unnecessary exposure to potential 
threats whilst actively managing 
and mitigating risks that may 
impact our strategic goals.

• Society business planning process.
• Periodic strategic updates to Board.
• Ongoing monitoring of Key Performance 
Indicators and risk appetite measures.
• Investment in underlying processes, 
systems, and people to support new business 
developments.
• Society business planning stress testing.
• Robust risk management and corporate 
governance frameworks.

Credit Risk (Lending)
The risk that mortgagors fail to meet 
their financial obligations as they fall 
due, resulting in a potential financial 
loss following enforcement of the 
loan and realisation of the mortgage 
security and related additional 
security.

Credit Risk (Treasury)
The risk that treasury counterparties 
fail to meet their financial obligations 
to the Society as they fall due resulting 
in a potential financial loss.

Lending:
The Board has a minimal appetite 
for material financial loss arising  
from borrower default. In setting 
its quantitative risk appetite, 
it recognises the exposure to 
external market risk drivers.

Treasury:
The Board has a minimal appetite 
for financial loss arising from 
treasury counterparty default in 
that the Board accept that, under 
certain market conditions, the 
Society is exposed to the risk of 
counterparty downgrade, which 
may require the Society to hold  
additional capital.

• Board approved risk appetite and risk limits.
• Board approved Responsible Lending Policy.
• Board approved Treasury and Treasury 
Counterparty Policies.
• Robust mortgage underwriting criteria.
• Mortgage loans are manually underwritten.
• Borrower affordability stresses.
• Counterparty and exposure limits and Assets 
and Liabilities Committee (‘ALCO’) reviews.
• Stress testing.
• Credit Committee oversight for mortgage 
lending risk and financial soundness risk 
(including market risk).
• Capital planning as part of the Society’s 
ICAAP.

Financial Sustainability Risk
The risk that insufficient funds are 
available to meet financial obligations 
as they fall due (Overall Liquidity 
Adequacy Rule (‘OLAR’)) and / or, 
insufficient capital resources, resulting 
in the inability to support business 
activities (Overall Capital Adequacy 
Rule (‘OFAR’)).

OLAR:
To maintain sufficient liquid 
resources to cover cash flow 
imbalances and fluctuations in 
funding in order to retain public 
confidence in the solvency of the 
Society, and to enable the Society 
to meet its financial obligations 
as they fall due. The Society 
maintains assets in liquid form in 
such proportion and composition 
as will, at all times, enable to meet 
its liabilities as they arise and 
satisfy the OLAR.

OFAR:
The Society will, at all times, 
maintain sufficient capital, of 
a prerequisite quality, to cover 
existing and future risks arising 
from severer but plausible 
stresses, to maintain Member and 
market confidence.

• Board approved risk appetite and risk limits.
• Maintaining appropriate levels of High-Quality 
Liquid Assets.
• Liquidity is monitored daily by the Leadership 
Team.
• Board approved Treasury and Treasury 
Counterparty Policies.
• Liquidity planning as part of the Society’s 
ILAAP.
• Capital planning as part of the Society’s 
ICAAP.
• Stress testing.
• ALCO oversight.
• Board approved Recovery Plan.
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Principal Risk Society Approach Key Mitigation Actions

Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book 
(‘IRRBB’) The risk of losses arising 
from changes in the interest rates 
linked to banking book items, for 
example, the risks to interest income 
arising from a mismatch between the 
repricing duration of the Society’s 
assets and liabilities.

The Board has a minimal appetite 
for losses arising from changes 
in interest rates linked to banking 
book items as it acknowledges 
the impact on the Society’s Net 
Interest Income from movements 
in interest rates and its basis risk 
profile.

• Board approved risk appetite and risk limits.
• Board approved Policy.
• Specialist external treasury advisers used for 
investing surplus funds.
• Stress testing.
• ALCO oversight.

Operational Risk
The risk of financial loss or customer 
detriment resulting from inadequate, 
ineffective or failed internal processes, 
people and systems or external events. 
The scope of operational risks includes 
cyber, outsourcing and third-party 
suppliers, business continuity, conduct 
including consumer duty, regulatory 
and legal and financial crime.

The Board has a minimal appetite 
for operational losses due to 
the operational risks to which 
it is exposed. In quantifying 
its appetite, the Board does 
recognise the potential for post 
event remedial costs, uninsurable 
risk insurance premiums etc 
arising from operational losses.

• Board approved risk appetite and risk limits.
• Strong and effective internal control 
environment.
• Insurance.
• Risk and Compliance Committee (‘RCC’) 
oversight.
• Continued investment in developing RMFs, 
policies, systems, and processes.
• Continuous improvement, learning from 
internal and external events and responding to 
findings from Second Line and Third Line reviews.
• Investment in our operational resilience 
including cyber crime and IT.
• Vulnerable Customer Standards.

Colleagues, Conduct and Culture Risk
The risk stemming from ineffective 
leadership and engagement, 
inappropriate attitudes and 
behaviours among colleagues, a 
lack of personal responsibility and 
ownership, the scarcity of available 
colleague resources, together with 
insufficient capability and limited 
experience. The culmination of 
which presents a risk to the Society’s 
performance and culture.

The Board has a minimal risk 
appetite to incur losses as it 
seeks to balance innovation and 
resilience, recognising that a 
motivated and diverse workforce 
is fundamental to its sustained 
success, although is mindful of 
the exposure to key person risk 
and skills gap.

• Members are placed at the heart of our 
decision making, aligned to our Society values.
• Leadership Forum oversight.
• Strong risk management culture.
• Customer experience oversight ‘ Happy Index’.
• Remuneration and Engagement Committee 
oversight.
• Consumer Duty reporting to the Board.
• Board approved Conduct Risk Policy.

Climate Change
The risks to the Society arising from 
climate change are recognised in 
terms of both physical (climate and  
weather related events) and transition 
risks (arising from the process of 
adjustment towards a low carbon 
economy).

The Board acknowledges the 
impact of climate change on 
the Society and commits to 
a risk appetite that prioritises 
sustainability and resilience. The 
Society will strive to minimise 
environmental impacts, adapt to 
changing climate conditions, and  
seize opportunities arising from 
the transition to a low carbon 
economy.

The Society has implemented the requirements 
of the PRA’s SS3/19 and continues to manage 
the risks associated with climate change as part 
of our broader ESG strategy.

The potential financial impact of climate change 
on the Society is considered within our ICAAP. 
As part of the climate change project, we 
continue to assess the impacts and potential 
mitigations for credit, market and operational 
risks which may transpire. Board training and 
updates provided to Board and Risk Committee.                
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Emerging Risks 
Emerging risks are threats or opportunities for which the impact upon the Society cannot yet be 
reasonably measured or assessed. Timely identification and monitoring of these emerging risks can 
enable the Society to take appropriate steps to begin to mitigate the emerging threat or move to 
position the Society in such a way as to be ready to take advantage of an emerging opportunity.

RCC receive a summary of emerging risks relevant to their respective responsibilities which includes the 
current approach to either monitoring or mitigating the emerging risk. When the risk develops to a state 
where it can be reliably assessed, it is transitioned into active risk management within the RMF. The 
Board, Risk Committee and management level committees also discuss emerging risks and opportunities 
as a standing agenda item which contribute toward the regular update of the Society’s Risk Register.

On behalf of the Board.

Joanne Hindle, Chair
17 December 2024
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Directors’ 
Report
For the year ended 31 October 2024

The Directors have pleasure in presenting their 
Annual Report, together with the audited Annual 
Accounts and Annual Business Statement of the 
Society for the year ended 31 October 2024.

Business Objectives and Activities
The Society, which was founded in 1877, is an 
independent Building Society based in Stafford, 
financed by and run for the benefit of its Members. 
The Board remains unanimous in its belief that the 
mutual form is the most appropriate and beneficial 
when the interests of all existing and potential 
Members are taken into account. The Directors 
are committed wholeheartedly to maintaining the 
Society’s success by concentrating its efforts upon 
traditional building society business and offering 
a high standard of service to its investing and 
borrowing Members.

Information on the business objectives of the 
Society are detailed within the Strategic Report on 
pages 9 to 19.

Business Review
The Chair’s Statement on page 4, the Chief 
Executive’s Review on pages 6 to 8 and the 
Strategic Report on pages 9 to 19 report on 
the performance of the Society, referring to key 
performance indicators, and its future objectives. 

As a mutual organisation, we aim only to earn 
sufficient profits to enable us to prudently achieve 
our main purposes, as described above under the 
Strategic Report. We are pleased to report that 
we have achieved a profit for the financial year 
of £1.01m (2023: £1.60m) which contributes to a 
healthy level of capital and supports the financial 
stability of the Society.

Applying the United Kingdom 
Corporate Governance Code

The United Kingdom Corporate Governance 
Code 2018 (‘the Code’) applies to listed United 
Kingdom companies. It requires them to explain 
how they have applied the governance principles 
which are contained within the Code, to enable 
a company’s shareholders to understand how 
effectively a company has complied. As a mutually 
owned organisation, the Society does not have 
the equivalent of shareholders and is not directly 
subject to the Code. Nevertheless, in line with PRA 
guidance, the Board has voluntarily chosen to have 
regard to the principles of the Code where they are 
considered relevant (and the Board deems them 
appropriate) to an organisation of this size. Further 
details of the Society’s compliance with the Code 
are set out in the Corporate Governance Report 
on pages 23 to 30.

Compliance and Regulation
The Society is regulated by both the Financial 
Conduct Authority (‘FCA’) and the Prudential 
Regulation Authority (‘PRA’). We fully support 
and accept the need for, and the responsibilities 
associated with, regulatory compliance. The 
Society takes its responsibility to adhere to various 
laws, statutes and codes of practice seriously 
throughout the business and does not seek to 
avoid compliance with them. It is the Society’s 
objective to not only comply with the letter of the 
various requirements but also the spirit and to be 
entirely transparent in its disclosures.
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Directors
The following persons were Directors of the Society 
during the year and up to the date of signing the 
Annual Report and Accounts:

Non-Executive Directors
Joanne Hindle (Chair)
Gary C D Crowe
David J Grant (Senior Independent Director)
Mary A Kerr (resigned 19 February 2024)
Alison Tattersall
Ian A Craig
Jonathan G Farrington (appointed 1 May 2024)
Raymond J H Milne (appointed 1 May 2024)

Executive Directors
Steven Jones (Chief Executive)
Robert I Hassall (Chief Operating Officer, 
appointed 1 November 2023)
Christopher I Reid (Chief Financial Officer, resigned 
30 August 2024)
Matthew D Rowell (Chief Financial Officer, 
appointed 7 October 2024)

Tenure of Office
The tenure of office for the Board is as follows.

Directors Non-Executives Executives

0 - 3 years 4 2

Up to 6 years 1 -

Up to 9 years 1 1

Over 9 years 1 - 

Director Tenure as at 31 October 2024

Having regard to the United Kingdom Corporate 
Governance Code 2018, all Directors will retire and 
being eligible will seek re-election at the AGM.

Equality, Diversity and Inclusion
The Society operates a policy on Equality, 
Diversity and Inclusion to provide opportunity for 
all colleagues and Directors. No parameters are 
deemed appropriate due to the Society’s size and 
we always seek to appoint the most appropriate 
candidate.

The gender breakdown is detailed in the following 
table.

Role Male 
(Number)

Female 
(Number)

Total 
(Number)

Male 
(%)

Female 
(%)

Total
 (%)

Board (Excluding the Executives) 5 2 7 71.4 28.6 100.0

Leadership Team (Including the Executives) 5 8 13 38.5 61.5 100.0

Colleagues 7 28 35 20.0 80.0 100.0

Total 17 38 55 30.9 69.1 100.0

Gender Breakdown as at 31 October 2024

Creditor Payment Policy
The Society’s continuing policy concerning the 
payment of its trade creditors is to pay invoices 
within the agreed terms of credit once suppliers 
have discharged their contractual obligations. 
Amounts due to relevant creditors of the Society 
are paid on average within 34 days of receipt of 
invoice (2023: 36 days).

Charitable and Political Donations
During the year the Society made donations of 
£5,258 (2023: £5,348) to charities. No contributions 
were made for political purposes. The Society 
sponsors, and its colleagues commit their time to, a 
range of local charitable and community causes.

Colleagues
The Directors are extremely appreciative of the 
contribution made by colleagues to the Society’s 
successful performance. The Society obtains 
feedback from both borrowers and investing 
Members throughout the year in order to monitor 
our performance and make improvements where 
appropriate. The feedback we have received 
indicates a high level of satisfaction with the 
service provided by our colleagues.
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Joanne Hindle, Chair 
17 December 2024

The Society in the Community
The Society remains firmly committed to 
conducting all its affairs in an ethical and socially 
responsible manner. In particular, it is recognised 
that the major part of the Society’s business and 
membership is drawn from the local community 
in which it operates. Consequently, the Society 
actively endeavours to identify with and support 
the community. The Society actively sources 
goods and services locally if possible, and 
provides support in terms of both finance and 
practical assistance to local charities, worthwhile 
causes and community-based organisations.

The Society actively pursues environmentally 
friendly initiatives with the aim of mitigating 
the environmental impact of the business it 
undertakes. Members can play their part by 
registering to receive future AGM packs online.

Events since the Year End
The Directors consider that there has been no 
event since the end of the financial year that has 
a significant effect on the position of the Society.

Going Concern
The Directors are required to consider whether 
the Society will continue as a going concern 
for a period not less than twelve months from 
the date of signing the accounts. In making 
this assessment, the Directors have reviewed 
the Society’s corporate plan and considered 
risks that could impact on the Society’s capital 
position, financial position and liquidity over 
that period. The Directors have also prepared 
stress scenarios to consider the effects on the 
Society’s business, financial position, capital and 

liquidity of operating under severe but plausible 
downside scenarios. Having reviewed these 
forecasts, alongside the Society’s ICAAP and 
ILAAP documents, the Directors are satisfied that 
the Society has adequate resources to continue 
in business for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, 
the accounts continue to be prepared on a going 
concern basis.

External Auditors
The Society’s External Auditors, 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, who were re-
appointed at the 2024 AGM, have expressed 
their willingness to continue in office and, in 
accordance with Section 77 of the Building 
Societies Act 1986, a resolution to this effect will 
be proposed at the 2025 AGM. 

Each of the persons who is a Director at the date 
of approval of this report confirms that:

•	 So far as the Director is aware, there is no 
relevant audit information of which the 
Society’s auditors are unaware; and

•	 The Director has taken all the steps that should 
be taken as a Director in order to be aware of 
any relevant audit information and to establish 
that the Society’s auditors are aware of that 
information.
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Corporate 
Governance Report
The Board is committed to best practice in corporate governance as it affects 
the Society. The Board has regard for the principles of the UK Corporate 
Governance Code 2018 where they are considered relevant (and the Board 
deems them appropriate) to an organisation of this size and complexity.

The Board assumes full responsibility for the overall 
strategy, the operation of the Society and the 
monitoring of performance. The Directors continue 
to believe that Members are best served by the 
Society retaining its mutual status.

The Board notes that a revised version of the UK 
Corporate Governance Code was published in 
January 2024, and which will apply for financial 
years beginning on or after 1 January 2025. The 
Board will ensure it continues to have regard to 
the Code’s Principles and reflect any applicable 
revisions in its approach to corporate governance 
during the coming financial year.

The Board 
The principal functions of the Board, whilst 
always acting in the best interests of the Society’s 
Members, are to:

• Provide leadership of the Society within a 
framework of prudent and effective controls which 
enables risk to be assessed and managed. The 
Board sets the Society’s strategic aims and ensures 
that the necessary financial and human resources 
are in place for them to be met. It also reviews 
management performance, the Board sets the 
Society’s behavioural standards, and ensures the 
Society’s obligations to its Members and others are 
understood and met;

• Commit to complying with best practice in 
corporate governance but where it believes that 
there is a justifiable reason to depart from the 
Code then it will do so and follow the ‘comply 
or explain approach.’ The Terms of Reference 
documents Board responsibilities, authority, 
organisation, and composition. The Terms of 
Reference have been aligned to the Code, Rules of 
the Society and Regulatory requirements; and

• Satisfy itself on the integrity of financial 
information at the same time ensuring financial 
controls and risk management systems are robust, 
reviewed at least annually. 

The Board meets regularly throughout the year 
and separately undertakes a formal review of 
strategy at least annually. Additional Board 
meetings take place when required.

The Board Chair is responsible for the leadership 
of the Board, setting its direction and culture and 
ensuring effective contributions from all Directors. 
As of 31 October 2024, the Board consisted of 
three Executive Directors and seven Non-Executive 
Directors who provide the appropriate mix of skills 
and professional expertise required.

The Board has five key Board Committees. The 
Board reviews the composition of the Committees 
and their Terms of Reference annually to ensure 
they remain relevant and up to date. The Terms 
of Reference are available on request from the 
Society’s Secretary and on the Society’s website at 
www.srbs.co.uk.
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Audit Committee 
The principal functions of the Audit Committee 
are to:

•	 Consider all matters of an audit and compliance 
nature applying to the Society, including the 
effectiveness of internal quality control and risk 
management systems and financial reporting 
processes;

•	 Be responsible for the integrated assurance 
framework incorporating Second and Third Lines 
of Defence; 

•	 Approve and monitor the progress of the scope 
and content of Second and Third Lines of 
Defence;

•	 Review and monitor the independence of 
External Audit work, with responsibility for the 
selection and appointment of an External Audit 
firm; and

•	 Monitor the annual audit of the Society’s 
Annual Report and Accounts, informing the 
Board of the outcome of the annual external 
audit together with an explanation of how the 
audit contributed to the integrity of financial 
reporting and what the role of the Committee 
was in that process.

The Audit Committee consists entirely of Non-
Executive Directors. The following Non-Executive 
Directors served during the year: Gary C D Crowe 
(Chair), Mary A Kerr, Ian A Craig and Jonathan 
G Farrington. In addition, the Executive Directors, 
representatives from the Society’s Finance and 
Risk and Compliance functions, External Audit and 
the outsourced Internal Audit attend by invitation. 
The Audit Committee meets at least four times a 
year. Further details of this Committee are provided 
within the Audit Committee Report on pages 31 
to 32.

Risk Committee 
The principal functions of the Risk Committee are 
to: 

•	 Advise the Board on the overall risk appetite, 
tolerance and strategy and review certain 
policies. In particular, the Committee monitors 
and reviews the consolidated risk picture across 
the Society;

•	 Consider the principal and emerging risks 
of the Society. The risks are identified and 
recorded in the Risk Register which is reviewed 
and monitored to ensure compliance with the 
Board’s Risk Appetite and achievement of the 
Corporate Plan;

•	 Receive standing reports on the Risk Register 
along with detailed risk management 
information that enables it to track performance 
against the risk appetite;

•	 Ensure the ongoing development and 
maintenance of the stress testing that underpins 
the ICAAP, ILAAP and RP; and

•	 Ensure the ongoing development and 
maintenance of the RMF.

The Risk Committee consists entirely of Non-
Executive Directors. The following Non-Executive 
Directors served during the year: David J Grant 
(Chair), Joanne Hindle, Gary C D Crowe, Alison 
Tattersall and Ray J H Milne. In addition, the 
Executive Directors and representatives from the 
Society’s Risk function attend by invitation. The 
Risk Committee meets at least four times a year.

Nominations and Governance 
Committee 
The principal functions of the Nominations and 
Governance Committee are: 

•	 Leading the process for appointments to 
the Board (Non-Executive and Executive) 
and ensuring plans are in place for orderly 
succession to the Board and the Leadership 
Team (whilst being mindful of the regulatory 
regime for Senior Managers and Certified Staff 
(‘SM&CR’)); and

•	 Providing an oversight for the Society’s 
governance structure and an independent 
review of the Board effectiveness, as well as 
compliance with the Society Rules and the latest 
applicable version of the Corporate Governance 
Code.

The Nominations and Governance Committee 
consists of Joanne Hindle (Chair), David J Grant 
(Senior Independent Director), Alison Tattersall 
and Steven Jones (Chief Executive Officer). The 
Nominations and Governance Committee meets 
when there is an appropriate vacancy to fill and 
at least twice a year to review the skills mix of the 
Board.



25

The Stafford Building Society				    Annual Report & Accounts | 31 October 2024

Remuneration and Engagement 
Committee 
The principal functions of the Remuneration and 
Engagement Committee are to: 

•	 Review and make recommendations to the 
Board in respect of the remuneration of the 
Board Chair and Executive Directors, together 
with oversight of Senior Management and wider 
Society remuneration, to ensure the alignment 
of incentives and rewards with the values of the 
Society; and

•	 Review the broader people strategy, respecting 
that people are one of the Society’s most 
valuable resources, to drive and deliver the 
right culture throughout the Society. This covers 
all areas of the people strategy to effectively 
deliver the Corporate Plan, including for 
example colleague engagement, performance 
management and training.

Further details of this Committee are provided 
within the Directors’ Remuneration Report 
on pages 33 to 35. The Remuneration and 
Engagement Committee consists entirely of Non-
Executive Directors. The following Non-Executive 
Directors served during the year: Alison Tattersall 
(Chair), David J Grant (Senior Independent 
Director), Mary A Kerr and Jonathan G Farrington. 
The Committee meets at least annually.

Information Technology (‘IT’) 
Committee 
The principal functions of the IT Committee are to: 

•	 Provide oversight and advice to the Board 
in respect of IT strategy, IT investment, IT 
architecture, IT operating model effectiveness, 
delivery performance and resilience controls 
(including IT elements of cyber risk); and

•	 Advising and supporting the Chief Executive 
Officer and the Executive team on all aspects of 
technology operations and investment.

The IT Committee consists of Non-Executive 
Directors, Chief Executive Officer and the Chief 
Operating Officer. The following Non-Executives 
Directors served during the year: Ian A Craig 
(Chair), David J Grant and Ray JH Milne; with the 
IT team attending via invitation. The IT Committee 
meets at least six times a year.

Attendance at the Board and 
Committee meetings
All Committee meetings are formally documented 
with the minutes being reviewed at the next 
meeting. Attendance of members of the Board and 
Committees at meetings are as follows (November 
2023-October 2024):

Name Board Remuneration 
& Engagement

Audit Risk Nominations & 
Governance

Information 
Technology

Joanne Hindle  (Chair) 9/(9) * * 5/(5) 2/(2) *

Gary C D Crowe 7/(9) 2/(3) 4/(5) 4/(5) * *

David J Grant  9/(9) * * 5/(5) 2/(2) 7/(7)

Mary A Kerr 
(To 19 February 2024)

1/(4) 1/(1) 1/(2) * * *

Alison Tattersall 9/(9) 3/(3) * 5/(5) 2/(2) 4/(4)

Ian A Craig 8/(9) * 5/(5) * * 7/(7)

Jonathan G Farrington 
(From 1 May 2024)

3/(4) 2/(2) 2/(2) * * *

Raymond J H Milne 
(From 1 May 2024)

4/(4) * * 1/(2) * 2/(3)

Steven Jones 9/(9) * * * 1/(2) 7/(7)

Christopher I Reid 
(To 30 August 2024)

7/(8) * * * * *

Robert I Hassall 
(From 1 November 2023)

9/(9) * * * * 7/(7)

Matthew D Rowell 
(From 7 October 2024)

0/(0) * * * * *

Board Committee Attendances: Year ended 31 October 2024

Figures in brackets represent maximum possible attendance and * denotes not a member of the Committee.
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Balance and Independence
The offices of Board Chair and Chief Executive 
Officer are distinct and are required to perform 
different duties. No one person may fulfil both 
roles. The Board Chair is responsible for leading 
the Board, ensuring its effectiveness and 
communicating with the Society’s Members on 
behalf of the Board. The Chief Executive Officer  is 
responsible for implementing the strategy agreed 
by the Board and managing the Society’s business 
and operations within the parameters set by the 
Board.

The Senior Independent Director is David J Grant 
who is available to Members if they have concerns 
regarding their membership of the Society and do 
not wish to contact either the Board Chair or Chief 
Executive Officer. 

The Non-Executive Directors periodically meet 
without the Executive Directors in attendance.

Application of the Code
The Code has five sections, each setting out 
‘Principles’ that should be followed, with further 
detailed ‘provisions’, explaining in more depth 
how the principles should be applied. To assist 
Members, the principles of each section are 
reproduced below and an explanation of how 
these have been applied / not applied follows. To 
assist readership, the principles are shown in italic 
text and are labelled alphabetically from A to R, 
appearing under five section headings, following 
the format of the Code.

If you wish to read more about the Code, you 
can view it at https://www.frc.org.uk/directors/ 
corporate-governance-and-stewardship/uk- 
corporate-governance-code

1. Board Leadership and Company 
Purpose 
‘A. A successful company is led by an effective 
and entrepreneurial Board, whose role is to 
promote the long term sustainable success of the 
company, generating value for shareholders and 
contributing to wider society. The Board should 
ensure that the necessary resources, policies and 
practices are in place for the company to meet 
its objectives and measure performance against 
them.’

The requirement for and composition of the 
Society’s Board is contained in the Society’s Rules. 
Established law requires the Board to have regard 
to the Society’s present and future membership, 
to ensure a sustainable business that continues 
to generate economic value, from intermediating 

between saving and borrowing Members, creating 
capital from retained profit to support present and 
future Members who wish to save, or to borrow to 
help them buy and improve their own homes.

The Board considers the opportunities and risks 
to strategy, and the resulting implications on 
the future success of the Society, through the 
corporate planning process. This includes assessing 
how the Society maintains its financial strength in 
a sustainable way over the long-term within the 
constraints of operating in a challenging market 
environment. One element of overall strategy is 
the continuing investment in people, processes 
and  technology to ensure long-term capability to 
deliver sustainable balance sheet growth whilst 
remaining  operationally resilient and improving 
customer access to products and services.

Consistent with being a mutually owned 
organisation the Board does not consider itself 
‘entrepreneurial’ in the usual sense of the word, 
or in the context of the Code (which principally 
applies to limited companies), since that would 
imply taking financial risks which may not be in the 
interests of its Members and the sustainability of 
the Society or seeking to act beyond its purpose. 
However, the Board strives to ensure the Society 
remains profitable, efficient and to be innovative, 
wherever it can do so.

‘B. The Board should assist in establishing the 
company’s purpose, values, and strategy, and 
satisfy itself that these and its culture are aligned. 
All Directors must act with integrity, lead by 
example, and promote the desired culture.’ 

The Society’s purpose is defined by the Building 
Societies Act 1986. The Board may not act beyond 
that purpose. The Board defines and monitors the 
Society’s strategy and culture, which are linked to 
providing Members with savings and mortgages. 
Directors are required to lead with integrity at all 
times, being consistent with the established legal 
duty of a building society Director to act in the 
best interests of its Members, and to recognise that 
all Directors are regulated by SM&CR, enforced by 
the PRA and FCA.

The Society operates a framework to provide 
assurance that Directors meet the fitness and 
propriety standards required by SM&CR. The Board 
considers its strategy annually together with the 
Society’s purpose and values, to ensure our culture 
is aligned. More detail is set out in the Strategic 
Report beginning on page 9. The Board through 
its Committees regularly receives information to 
provide assurance that culture is aligned to our 
purpose and values.
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‘C. The Board should ensure that the necessary 
resources are in place for the company to 
meet its objectives and measure performance 
against them. The Board should also establish 
a framework of prudent and effective controls, 
which enable risk to be assessed and managed.’ 

The Board must ensure the Society can 
operate effectively at all times. The Society 
has implemented a robust Risk Management 
Framework to monitor and mitigate risk where 
possible. A comprehensive Committee structure is 
in place to facilitate this control mechanism via the 
Three Lines of Defence model. 

‘D. In order for the company to meet its 
responsibilities to shareholders and stakeholders, 
the Board should ensure effective engagement 
with, and encourage participation from, these 
parties.’

The Board reports formally to its Members at the 
AGM of the Society each year. All Members are 
invited to attend and may pose questions on the 
Annual Report and Accounts and the Auditors 
Report as well as the general business of the 
Society. Members are given voting rights on key 
decisions, as required by the Society’s Rules. Voting 
by post, online, in branch or by proxy for where 
a Member cannot attend in person, with voting 
overseen by independent scrutineers. 

The Society’s other two key stakeholders are its 
Regulators, the PRA and the FCA. The Regulators 
are active in monitoring the Society’s performance 
and operations in order to ensure it observes the 
extensive regulations, which all building societies 
are subject to (designed to ensure the safety and 
soundness of the financial services sector, protect 
Members and promote competition).

‘E. The Board should ensure that workforce 
policies and practices are consistent with the 
company’s values and support its long-term 
sustainable success. The workforce should be able 
to raise any matters of concern.’

The Board is satisfied that its human resources 
policies are consistent with ensuring the long-term 
success of the Society. For instance, it rewards 
colleagues by reference to prevailing market rates 
for the Society’s locality and does not have any 
form of bonus schemes that might encourage 
unethical practices or otherwise target sales of its 
products by incentivisation.

The Society has an established Whistleblowing 
Policy designed to support our values and ensure 
colleagues can raise concerns, in confidence, 
without fear of suffering retribution or victimisation, 

providing a transparent and confidential process 
for dealing with concerns. This complies with the 
Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998, as amended.

2. Division of Responsibilities 
‘F. The Chair leads the Board and is responsible 
for its overall effectiveness in directing the 
company. They should demonstrate objective 
judgement throughout their tenure and promote 
a culture of openness and debate. In addition, the 
Chair facilitates constructive Board relations and 
the effective contribution of all Non-Executive  
Directors, and ensures that Directors receive 
accurate, timely and clear information.’

The Board Chair is responsible for leadership of 
the Board and the Board Chair must be satisfied 
that the Board is properly advised at all times. 
The Board Chair’s performance is subject to 
annual review, conducted by the Society’s Senior 
Independent Director, but involving all other 
members of the Board. The annual fee payable for 
the Board Chair’s role is recommended to Board 
by the Remuneration and Engagement Committee 
in a meeting, which, for this item, the Board Chair 
does not attend. No other incentives of any kind 
are payable. The Board Chair is subject to annual 
re-election by the Board, and approval to hold 
the position of Board Chair is required  under the 
SM&CR, given jointly by the PRA and the FCA.

It is expected that a Board Chair would normally 
only act in that capacity for a maximum of nine 
years (whether as Board Chair or taking into 
account any initial period as an independent Non-
Executive Director before being elected to become 
Board Chair) after which they are expected to 
retire. The Society’s Senior Independent Director 
along with the Nominations and Governance 
Committee will be expected to lead the process to 
select a successor to the incumbent Board Chair 
(usually due to their proposed retirement or the 
completion of the maximum term of nine years), 
upon which all members of the Board, including 
the incumbent Board Chair, may vote, as permitted 
by the Society’s Rules. The final appointment of a 
successor will be by majority vote and provided the 
electee has received approval to hold the office of 
Board Chair from the PRA and the FCA.

The Board Chair must facilitate constructive 
relationships among Directors and allow and 
encourage all members of the Board to contribute 
to its business, supported by appropriate reporting 
from the Executive Directors. The Board Chair        
conducts an annual review of the performance 
of the members of the Board, save for the Chief 
Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officer who 
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are direct reports of the Chief Executive, who is 
responsible to conduct their performance review.

The Board Chair has regular meetings with the 
Chief Executive and if necessary, communicates 
timely information to all Directors. 

‘G. The Board should include an appropriate 
combination of Executive and Non-Executive 
(and, in particular, independent Non-Executive) 
Directors, such that no one individual or small 
group of individuals dominates the  Board’s 
decision-making. There should be a clear division 
of responsibilities between the leadership of 
the Board and the Executive leadership of the 
company’s business.’

At 31 October 2024, the Board comprised of ten 
Directors, seven of whom are independent Non-
Executives and three of whom are Executives. This 
ensures the Society’s Executives can be held to 
account at all times. 

The Board’s composition and skills are reviewed 
annually by its Nomination and Governance 
Committee, chaired by the Board Chair. The 
Nomination and Governance Committee Chair 
is also responsible for recommending all future 
appointments to Executive and Non-Executive 
positions (for example, following retirement, or  
resignation), subject in each case to the final 
approval of the Board.

The Society’s Rules 12(4)(a) requires: ‘The Board 
shall ensure the direction and management of all 
affairs and business of the Society by a sufficient 
number of individuals fit and proper to be Directors 
or other Officers, in their respective positions, with 
prudence and integrity, in the best interests of 
the Society, in accordance with the Statutes, the 
Memorandum and these Rules.’

This Rule imposes an accountability for the 
direction and management of all affairs and 
business of the Society upon the Board itself. In 
practice, the Board delegates the management of 
the Society to its Executive Directors but subjects 
them to oversight and makes them responsible 
to report to the Board and its Sub-Committee  
meetings on all aspects of the Society’s business. 

‘H. Non-Executive Directors should have sufficient 
time to meet their Board responsibilities. They 
should provide constructive challenge, strategic 
guidance, offer specialist advice and hold 
management to account.’

Appointment to the Board is subject to a Director 
being made aware of the time commitment 
that will be expected of them, and the Board 

being satisfied that the appointee will be able to 
honour that expectation throughout their tenure, 
particularly having regard to any other business 
commitments they may have from time to time.

Directors are required to annually disclose other 
business commitments including time spent, which 
is then subject to oversight by the Board Chair, 
together with review by the Nominations and 
Governance Committee and ultimate approval by 
the Board.

Where Directors have other significant 
commitments, these are set out in the Annual 
Business Statement on page 73 in Section 3, 
Information Relating to Directors.

‘I. The Board, supported by the company 
secretary, should ensure that it has the policies, 
processes, information, time and resources 
it needs in order to function effectively and 
efficiently.’

The Board operates under detailed procedures set 
out in the Board Manual and Charter, maintained 
by the Society’s Secretary. The Board considers 
its effectiveness annually and challenges itself on 
all aspects of its efficiency and the oversight it 
provides. 

3. Composition, Succession and 
Evaluation 
‘J. Appointments to the Board should be subject 
to a formal, rigorous and transparent procedure, 
and an effective succession plan should be 
maintained for Board and senior management. 
Both appointments and succession plans should 
be based on merit and objective criteria. They 
should promote diversity, inclusion and equal 
opportunity.’

The Board’s Nominations and Governance 
Committee meets at least twice a year (and more 
frequently when required) to consider succession 
plans, the requirements for new appointees, and 
the desired experience when a new Director is to 
be appointed.

The Committee is responsible for interviewing 
candidates for appointment and making a 
recommendation to the Board. As a minimum, all 
prospective appointees must possess the required 
experience.

The Society has a policy on equal opportunities 
and will consider applications from all sectors of 
society but subject in all instances to a prospective 
candidate demonstrating the desired experience 
and an understanding of the significant duties 
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to which a Director is subject in law and the 
accountabilities which the role will impose upon 
them. In this respect, the Society does not actively 
promote ‘diversity’ in the context mentioned, since 
to do so may limit an appropriate appointment 
based on the experience and skills which the 
Society seeks. However, its policy on equal 
opportunities fully reflects the Equality Act 2010 
and ensures that it does not discriminate against 
any one societal segment because of race, gender 
or social and ethnic backgrounds, and will always 
seek to appoint the most appropriate candidate. 

All opportunities to join the Board as a Director are 
generally advertised, usually through a specialist 
recruitment agency or by open advertisement. 
Applications are welcomed from the Society’s 
membership, in accordance with its Rules.

‘K. The Board and its committees should have a 
combination of skills, experience and knowledge. 
Consideration should be given to the length of 
service of the Board as a whole and membership 
regularly refreshed.’ 

The Society has chosen to apply annual re-election 
of its Directors. The performance of all Directors 
is subject to annual appraisal by the Board Chair 
on behalf of the board, who must also be satisfied 
and able to certify that each Director continues to 
exhibit the ‘fit and proper’ requirement of SM&CR.

The Board Chair’s annual recertification of a 
Director must be thoughtful and given in utmost 
good faith, having regard to the Director’s 
continuing ability to contribute to the stewardship 
and effective governance of the Society, in the 
interest of its Members.

‘L. Annual evaluation of the Board should 
consider its performance composition, diversity 
and how effectively members work together to 
achieve objectives. Individual evaluation should 
demonstrate whether each Director continues to 
contribute effectively.’

The Society has developed a detailed process 
of evaluating the Board’s effectiveness which 
it normally employs each year, tested against 
a range of criteria which explore all aspects of 
its purpose. From time to time, the Society will 
consider using an external facilitator for this 
process. The requirement to ensure each Director is 
annually appraised (including the Board Chair) is 
referred to in the responses to principles F and K.

4. Audit, Risk and Internal Control 
‘M. The Board should establish formal and 
transparent policies and procedures to ensure the 
independence and effectiveness of internal and 
external audit functions and satisfy itself on the 
integrity of financial and narrative statements.’

The Audit Committee implements the Society’s 
policy on the use of External Audit for non-audit 
work. The External Auditor, PwC, did not undertake 
any non-audit work in the year.

The Chair of the Board is not a member of the 
Audit Committee. The Audit Committee Report on 
pages 31 to 32 describes how the Audit Committee 
applies the Code principles in relation to corporate 
reporting and internal control.

The Society also employs professional Auditors to 
fulfil the expectation of an internal audit function, 
and the Internal Auditors work on an annual 
programme, testing the design of controls and 
the effectiveness of their operation. Both Internal 
and External Auditors report to the Board’s Audit 
Committee, chaired by a Non-executive Director. 
That Committee reports to the Board.

‘N. The Board should present a fair, balanced and 
understandable assessment of the company’s 
position and prospects.’

The responsibility of the Directors in respect of 
preparation of the Annual Report and Accounts, 
accounting records and internal controls and 
the statement that the Society’s Accounts are 
prepared on a going concern basis, are set 
out on page 22 in the Directors’ Report. The 
Chief Executive’s Review on pages 6 to 8 and 
the Strategic Report on pages 9 to 19 provides 
Members with a detailed review of the position of 
the Society and  its future prospects.

The Board’s Audit Committee reviews in detail the 
Society’s annual financial statements. This ensures 
that feedback is given to help these documents 
be fair, balanced and understandable. The Audit 
Committee then recommends these documents to 
Board for approval.

The Audit Committee report on pages 31 to 32 
describes the main areas of accounting judgement 
considered by the Audit Committee.

‘O. The Board should establish and maintain an 
effective risk management and internal control 
framework and determine the nature and extent 
of the principal risks the company is willing to 
take in order to achieve its long-term strategic 
objectives.’
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The Board has a duty to ensure the Society 
operates within a framework of prudent controls 
which enables risk to be assessed and managed. 
The Board has overall responsibility for the 
Society’s internal control system and for reporting 
its effectiveness to the Members in the Annual 
Report and Accounts. The Board is also responsible  
for defining and influencing the culture of risk 
management across the Society.

The Board has overall responsibility for ensuring 
the Society maintains adequate financial resources, 
both in terms of capital and liquidity, through 
review and approval of both the Society’s ICAAP 
and the ILAAP. The Board monitors the role of 
management in identification, monitoring and 
review of major risks facing the Society through 
the Board Sub Committee and management 
committee structure including the ALCO, RCC and 
the Product Development and Credit Committees.

The Society operates a Three Lines of Defence 
model as set out on page 16.

The Leadership Team is responsible for designing, 
implementing, maintaining and monitoring the 
systems of internal control. The Board and each 
Board Committee has oversight responsibility for 
risks within its remit. The Society’s internal auditors 
provide assurance that systems and controls are 
effectively applied.

5. Remuneration 
‘P. Remuneration policies and practices should be 
designed to support strategy and promote long-
term sustainable success. Executive remuneration 
should be aligned to company purpose and 
values and be clearly linked to the successful 
delivery of the company’s long-term strategy.’

The Board is ultimately accountable for the 
determination of the Society’s strategy and 
promoting its long-term sustainable success. 
Execution of the strategy is delegated to the Chief 
Executive Officer, subject to Board oversight.

The Society rewards its Chief Executive Officer 
by reference to market rates for a comparable 
society or equivalent and taking account of skills, 
attributes, and flight risk. The performance of the 
Chief Executive Officer is reviewed by the Board 
(led by the Board Chair) annually and that process 
has regard to the delivery of the strategy and the 
financial standing of the Society at the end of its 
business year.

Remuneration rewards are considered, as 
appropriate, by the Remuneration and 
Engagement Committee in accordance with its 
Terms of Reference and recommended to the 
Board, as necessary. They generally reflect annual 
price inflation and evidence of pay awards at 
comparator firms.

Details of the Executive Directors’ incentive 
scheme are set out on pages 33 to 35 in the 
Directors’ Remuneration Report.

‘Q. A formal and transparent procedure for 
developing policy on Executive remuneration and 
determining Director and senior management 
remuneration should be established. No Director 
should be involved in deciding their own 
remuneration outcome.’

Remuneration is considered, as appropriate, by 
the Remuneration and Engagement Committee 
in accordance with its Terms of Reference and 
recommended to the Board as necessary. The 
Chair of that Committee reports upon its activities 
on pages 23 to 30 of this report. The Board 
Chair and the Chief Executive Officer determine 
the Non-Executive Directors’ fees and certain 
personnel who are not part of the Executive and 
not a Director, by reviewing data provided by the 
Remuneration and Engagement Committee.

‘R.  Directors should exercise independent 
judgement and discretion when authorising 
remuneration outcomes, taking account of 
company and individual performance, and wider 
circumstances.’

The Remuneration and Engagement Committee 
is comprised of three Non-Executive Directors 
and, amongst other things, takes account of the 
expectations of this principle.

Joanne Hindle, Chair 
17 December 2024
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Audit Committee 
Report 
The Audit Committee forms part of the Society’s corporate governance 
framework to which the Board has delegated oversight of financial reporting, 
internal controls, Internal Audit and External Audit. The Committee consists of 
three independent Non-Executive Directors.

This report provides an overview of the 
Committee’s work and details how it has 
discharged its responsibilities during the year. The 
principal functions of the Audit Committee are to:

•	 Consider all matters of an audit and compliance 
nature applying to the Society, including the 
effectiveness of internal quality control and risk 
management systems and financial reporting 
processes;

•	 Be responsible for the integrated assurance 
framework incorporating Second and Third Lines 
of Defence;

•	 Approve, and monitor the progress of, the 
scope and content of Second and Third Lines of 
Defence;

•	 Review and monitor the independence of 
External Audit work, with responsibility for the 
selection and appointment of an External Audit 
firm; and

•	 Monitor the annual audit of the Society’s 
Annual Report and Accounts, informing the 
Board of the outcome of the annual external 
audit together with an explanation of how the 
audit contributed to the integrity of financial 
reporting and what the role of the Committee 
was in that process.

At least one member of the Committee has recent, 
relevant financial experience and the Committee 
as a whole has experience of the Society’s industry.

Following each Committee meeting, the Committee 
Chair reports back to the Board on key matters 
discussed by the Committee. The composition of 
the Committee is detailed within the Corporate 
Governance section of this report on page 25. 
The Executive Directors, representatives from 
the Society’s Finance and Risk and Compliance 
functions and Internal and External Audit attend 
by invitation. The Committee met five times during 
the year and focused on the following matters:

1. Financial Reporting 
In relation to financial reporting, the role of the 
Committee is to monitor the integrity of the 
financial statements. In order to discharge this 
responsibility, the Audit Committee considered 
the accounting policies adopted by the Society, 
the presentation and disclosure of financial 
information and key accounting judgements 
made by management. During the year, the 
Committee focused on matters having regard to 
the significance of their impact on the reported 
position and the involvement of a high degree 
of complexity, judgement or estimation by 
management with specific focus in the following 
areas.

Provisioning for Loan Impairment
The Committee monitored loan impairment 
provisions through review of the key inputs and 
assumptions to the Society’s provisioning model. 
In the absence of historical loss experience by 
the Society, the Committee focused closely on 
the methodology and model inputs developed by 
management, including the appropriateness of any 
external information used. The Committee paid 
attention to the variation in impact of movement in 
provision input assumptions, including assumptions 
for house prices and probability of default.

Effective Interest Rate
Income in the form of fees earned and incurred as 
a result of bringing mortgages onto the balance 
sheet, are measured under the effective interest 
rate method. This approach involves consideration 
of the effective life of the loan. The Committee 
reviewed empirical data prepared by management 
on effective life and conclusions formed for 
utilisation in determining the approach taken and 
judgements applied by management in recognition 
of income on mortgages and is satisfied that 
the estimates and accounting treatment are 
appropriate.
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2. Internal Controls and Internal Audit 
The Board recognises that robust systems of 
internal control are essential to the achievement of 
its objectives and the safeguarding of Members’ 
and the Society’s assets. Internal control also 
contributes to the effectiveness and efficiency 
of operations, helping to ensure the reliability 
of internal and external reporting and enables 
compliance with applicable laws and regulations. 
The Society operates in a dynamic business 
environment and, as a result, the risks it faces 
are continually changing. The internal control 
framework has been designed to ensure thorough 
and regular evaluation of the nature and extent of 
risk and the Society’s ability to react accordingly. 
It is the role of Management to implement the 
Board’s policies on risk and control. It is also 
recognised that all employees have responsibility 
for internal control as part of their accountability 
for achieving objectives. Colleague training and 
induction is designed to ensure that they are 
clear on their accountabilities in this area and are 
competent to operate and monitor the internal 
control framework.

RSM UK Risk Assurance Services LLP deliver 
internal audit services to the Society and provide 
independent assurance to the Board, via the Audit 
Committee, on the effectiveness of the Internal 
Control Framework. The Committee receives, 
considers and approves the Internal Audit Strategy 
and Plan, including the budget for and focus 
of assurance activity. Internal Audit provides 
the Committee with reports on its findings and 
recommendations as part of its work and updates 
on progress by management in implementing 
agreed actions, including verification that actions 
have been implemented as agreed.

The following aspects of internal control were 
reviewed by Internal Audit during the year: 

•	 Structural Risk;
•	 Recovery Plan;
•	 Retail Savings;
•	 Regulatory Reporting;
•	 Anti-Money Laundering Framework;
•	 Mortgage Underwriting;
•	 Cyber Risk Management; and
•	 Third Party Management and Outsourcing.

The outsourced Internal Audit function operates 
in accordance with an Internal Audit Charter. 
The Committee considers the reappointment of 
Internal Audit each year and also assesses their 
independence on an ongoing basis. Internal Audit 
is required to rotate the Audit Partner responsible 
for the Society’s audit at least every five years.

To preserve the independence of Internal Audit, the 
Committee holds periodic private meetings with 
its Internal Auditors during the year without the 
Executive Directors present.

3. External Audit 
The effectiveness of the External Audit process 
is dependent on appropriate risk identification 
and at the start of the audit cycle, the Committee 
receives from External Audit a detailed audit plan, 
identifying their assessment of the key risks. The 
Committee holds regular private meetings with the 
External Auditor without the Executive Directors 
present. This provides the opportunity for open 
dialogue and feedback from the Committee 
and the Auditor without the Executive Directors 
being present. Matters discussed typically include 
the Auditor’s assessment of financial reporting 
risks and key financial reporting judgements 
and estimates, the transparency and openness 
of interactions with the Leadership Team and 
confirmation that there has been no restriction 
in scope placed on them and the independence 
of their audit. The Committee considers the re-
appointment of External Audit each year and 
also assesses their independence on an ongoing 
basis. External Audit is required to rotate the Audit 
Partner responsible for the Society’s audit at least 
every five years.

The Committee approved the fees for audit 
services after a review of the level and nature of 
the work to be performed and was satisfied that 
the fees were appropriate for the scope of work 
required.

The Board assessed their independence as 
appropriate as no non-audit services were 
provided during this reporting year.

4. Audit Committee Effectiveness 
The Committee conducts a self-assessment review 
annually to monitor performance against its Terms 
of Reference. The resulting effectiveness report 
is presented by the Chair of the Committee with 
any relevant recommendations addressed. The 
Committee’s Terms of Reference were reviewed 
during the year and found to be fit for purpose. The 
Board continues to be satisfied that the Committee 
members have the requisite levels of knowledge 
and understanding relevant to the markets in 
which the Society operates.

Gary C D Crowe, Chair of Audit Committee
17 December 2024
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Directors’ Remuneration
Report
The purpose of this Report is to inform Members 
about the current policy on the remuneration of 
Executive and Non-Executive Directors. The Report 
provides details of the different elements of the 
Executive Directors’ remuneration and explains the 
process for determining them.

The Society has adopted a remuneration policy 
which describes how the Society has complied 
with the requirements of both the supervisory 
statements issued by PRA and FCA relating 
to remuneration and the Code. The Board 
is committed to best practice in corporate 
governance and will ask Members to vote, on an 
advisory basis, on the Directors’ Remuneration 
Report at the forthcoming AGM.

The Remuneration and Engagement 
Committee 
The over-arching purpose of the Committee is 
to ensure that remuneration policies and the 
reward structure are in line with the Society’s 
business strategy, risk appetite and long-term 
objectives. This ensures the alignment of 
incentives and rewards with the values of the 
Society. The Committee is satisfied that the 
basis of remuneration is consistent with sound 
and effective risk management and does not 
encourage excessive risk taking.

The Committee, with its broadened engagement 
scope, also looks at the overarching culture of the 
Society together with its performance in attracting 
and retaining the best colleagues to serve 
Members. This includes oversight of the key people 
risks, ensuring these are effectively mitigated. 

The Committee takes account of the Code, as far 
as it is relevant and appropriate to an organisation 
of the Society’s size.

The Committee comprises of three Non-Executive 
Directors with Alison Tattersall as Chair and is 
responsible for making recommendations to the 
Board in respect of remuneration for the Chair 

of the Board and Executive Directors, together 
with oversight of Senior Management and wider 
Society remuneration, to ensure the alignment 
of incentives and rewards with culture. The Chief 
Executive attends by invitation only and takes no 
part in the discussion relating to his remuneration. 
The remuneration of the Chair of the Board is 
set at a meeting of the Board where the Chair of 
the Board is not present. The remuneration of all 
other Non-Executive Directors is set by the Chief 
Executive and Chair of the Board.

The Committee meets at least annually to consider 
the remuneration and other terms of service of the 
Executive Directors and make recommendations to 
the Board where appropriate.

Executive Directors’ Remuneration 
The Society’s policy is to set remuneration levels 
which will attract and retain Executive Directors 
with appropriately high levels of skill and expertise 
and to reward the achievement of stretching 
objectives in line with the Society’s Corporate plan. 
It comprises:

Basic Salary 
This takes into account the role and position of 
individuals including professional experience, 
responsibilities, complexity of the role and market 
conditions. Basic salary is reviewed annually and 
includes external benchmarking against data from 
within the building society sector.

Incentives 
A bonus scheme is determined and recommended 
to the Board by the Remuneration Committee. This 
is based on a range of financial and non-financial 
corporate performance objectives including 
appropriate risk management objectives. Bonus 
payments are payable annually and set at a 
maximum of 20% of contractual gross salary for 
the Chief Executive Officer and with a maximum 
of 15% for the Chief Financial Officer and Chief 
Operating Officer.
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Pensions
The Society contributes to the personal pension 
arrangements of its Executive Directors. The 
Society does not have a Defined Benefit / Final 
Salary Pension Scheme.

Benefits 
Executive Directors receive other benefits as 
afforded to colleagues including private medical 
insurance, death-in-service and income protection. 
The Society does not provide concessionary home 
loans to Directors.

Contractual Terms 
The Executive Directors are employed on open 
ended service contracts. Notice period for the 
Chief Executive is twelve months, to be given by 
both the Society and the individual. The notice 
period for the Chief Financial Officer and Chief 
Operating Officer is six months to be given by both 
Society and the individual. As at 31 October 2024 
no notices had been served by any of the parties.

Non-Executive Directors’ Remuneration: 
All Non-Executive Directors are remunerated by 
fees which are reviewed annually, with periodic 
external benchmarking against data from within 
the building society sector. The Chair of the Board, 
and each of the sub-committees also receive 
additional payments reflecting the additional 
duties and responsibilities of their roles. There are 
no bonus schemes for Non-Executive Directors, 
and they do not qualify for pension entitlement 
or other benefits. Non-Executive Directors do not 
have service contracts but are entitled to claim 
reimbursement of expenses incurred on behalf of 
the Society.

Total emoluments of the Society’s Directors are 
listed below (excluding national insurance):

2024
£’000

2023
£’000

Non-Executive Directors’ fees (Note 6) 229.0 210.5

Executive Directors’ remuneration 529.5 386.0

Total 758.5 596.5

Non-Executive Directors

Fees 2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

Joanne Hindle (Chair) 44.1 41.8

David J Grant (Senior Independent Director) 35.6 33.9

Gary CD Crowe 35.6 33.9

Mary A Kerr (to 19 February 2024) 9.3 33.1

Ian A Craig 35.6 33.9

Alison Tattersall 35.6 33.9

Jonathan G Farrington (from 1 May 2024) 17.8 -

Ray J H Milne (from 1 May 2024) 15.4 -

Total 229.0 210.5
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Executive Directors

31/10/24 Salary
£’000

Benefits Including Bonus* 
£’000

Pension
£’000

Total
£’000

Steven Jones 188.1 33.7 21.7 243.5

Christopher I Reid (To 30 August 2024) 113.6 - 12.7 126.3

Robert I Hassall (From 1 November 2023) 110.0 16.5 12.4 138.9

Matthew D Rowell (From 7 October 2024) 9.7 10.0 1.1 20.8

Total 421.4 60.2 47.9 529.5

* Matthew D Rowell succeeded Christopher I Reid as Chief Financial Officer on 7 October 2024. The Society agreed to compensate Matthew for the 
forfeiture of variable pay awards from his previous employment. This replacement award was not more generous in terms or amounts than he would 
otherwise have received.

31/10/23 Salary
£’000

Benefits Including Bonus
£’000

Pension
£’000

Total
£’000

Steven Jones 177.8 32.1 20.4 230.3

Christopher I Reid 125.5 15.8 14.4 155.7

Total 303.3 47.9 34.8 386.0

Alison Tattersall, Chair of Remuneration and Engagement Committee
17 December 2024
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Statement of Directors’ 
Responsibilities
Directors’ Responsibilities in respect of the Annual Report, the Annual 
Business Statement, the Directors’ Report and the Annual Accounts.

The Directors are responsible for preparing the 
Annual Report, Annual Business Statement, 
Directors’ Report and Annual Accounts in 
accordance with applicable law and regulations.

The Building Societies Act 1986 (the Act) requires 
the Directors to prepare Society annual accounts 
for each financial year. Under that law they 
have elected to prepare the Annual Accounts in 
accordance with United Kingdom Accounting 
Standards and applicable law (United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), 
including FRS102, The Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the United Kingdom and Republic of 
Ireland.

The Annual Accounts are required by law to give 
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the 
Society as at the end of the financial year and of 
the income and expenditure of the Society for the 
financial year.

In preparing these Annual Accounts, the Directors 
are required to:

•	 Select suitable accounting policies and then 
apply them consistently;

•	 Make judgements and estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent;

•	 State whether applicable United Kingdom 
Accounting Standards have been followed, 
subject to any material departures disclosed 
and explained in the Annual Accounts;

•	 Assess the Society’s ability to continue as 
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern; and

•	 Use the going concern basis of accounting 
unless they either intend to liquidate the 
Society or to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so.

In addition to the Annual Accounts, the Act 
requires the Directors to prepare, for each 
financial year, an Annual Business Statement and 
a Directors’ Report, each containing prescribed 
information relating to the business of the Society.

Directors’ Responsibilities for 
Accounting Records and Internal 
Control
The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the 
Society:

•	 Keeps proper accounting records that disclose 
with reasonable accuracy at any time the 
financial position of the Society, in accordance 
with the Act; and

•	 Takes reasonable care to establish, maintain, 
document and review such systems and controls 
as are appropriate to its business in accordance 
with the rules made by the FCA and PRA under 
the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000.

The Directors are responsible for such internal 
controls as they determine are necessary to 
enable the preparation of Annual Report and 
Accounts that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and they have 
general responsibility for taking such steps as are 
reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets 
of the Society and to prevent and detect fraud and 
other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance 
and integrity of the corporate and financial 
information included on the Society’s website. 
Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the 
preparation and dissemination of Annual Accounts 
may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

On behalf of the Board

Joanne Hindle, Chair
17 December 2024
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Independent Auditors’ Report 
to the Members of The Stafford 
Railway Building Society
Report on the audit of the annual accounts
Opinion
In our opinion:

•	 The Stafford Railway Building Society’s annual accounts (the “annual accounts”) give a true and 
fair view of the state of the society’s affairs as at 31st October 2024 and of the society’s income 
and expenditure and cash flows for the year then ended;

•	 The annual accounts have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 102 “The 
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland”, and applicable law); 
and

•	 The annual accounts have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Building 
Societies Act 1986.

We have audited the annual accounts, included within the Annual Report and Accounts (the “Annual 
Report”), which comprise: the statement of financial position as at 31st October 2024; the statement of 
comprehensive income, the statement of cash flows, and the statement of changes in members’ interests 
for the year then ended; the accounting policies; and the notes to the annual accounts, which include a 
description of the significant accounting policies.

Our opinion is consistent with our reporting to the Audit Committee.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) 
and applicable law. Our responsibilities under ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors’ 
responsibilities for the audit of the annual accounts section of our report. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We remained independent of the society in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant 
to our audit of the annual accounts in the UK, which includes the FRC’s Ethical Standard applicable to 
public interest entities and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements.

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit services prohibited by the FRC’s 
Ethical Standard were not provided to the society.

We have provided no non-audit services to the society in the period from 1st November 2023 to 31st 
October 2024.
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Our audit approach

Overview

Materiality •	 £274,500 (2023: £269,000) - Society annual accounts

•	 Based on 1% of net assets

Scoping •	 We conducted the audit using a team from Manchester

•	 We performed audit procedures over all material account 
balances

Key audit matter •	 Impairment provision for loans and advances to customers.

The scope of our audit
As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material 
misstatement in the annual accounts. In particular, we looked at where the directors made subjective 
judgements, for example in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved making 
assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits we also 
addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including evaluating whether there was 
evidence of bias by the directors that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.

Capability of the audit in detecting irregularities, including fraud
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design 
procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the 
annual accounts section, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. 
The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed 
below.

Based on our understanding of the society/industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-
compliance with laws and regulations related to breaches of UK regulatory principles such as those 
governed by the Prudential Regulation Authority, and we considered the extent to which non-
compliance might have a material effect on the annual accounts. We also considered those laws and 
regulations that have a direct impact on the annual accounts such as the Building Societies Act 1986. 
We evaluated management’s incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the annual 
accounts (including the risk of override of controls), and determined that the principal risks were related 
to posting of inappropriate journal entries to increase revenue or reduce expenditure and management 
bias in accounting estimates. Audit procedures performed included:

•	 Review of correspondence with and to regulators;
•	 Testing of significant accounting estimates (see key audit matter below);
•	 Testing of journal entries with unusual account combinations and other specific risk based criteria 

back to corroborating evidence;
•	 Discussions with management in relation to known or suspected incidents of fraud;
•	 Review of board minutes and attendance at audit committees where known or suspected 

incidents of non-compliance with laws and regulation and fraud would be discussed; and

•	 Review of internal audit reports in so far as they related to the annual accounts.
There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above. We are less likely to become 
aware of instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events 
and transactions reflected in the annual accounts. Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations or through collusion.
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Key audit matter
Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors’ professional judgement, were of most 
significance in the audit of the annual accounts of the current period and include the most significant 
assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) identified by the auditors, 
including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources 
in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters, and any comments we 
make on the results of our procedures thereon, were addressed in the context of our audit of the annual 
accounts as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on 
these matters. This is not a complete list of all risks identified by our audit.

The key audit matter below is consistent with last year.

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment provision for loans and advances to 
customers.

The Society holds an impairment provision of £429k 
(2023: £631k) to account for impairment losses on 
mortgage assets which have been incurred. This is split 
between a collective impairment provision of £256k 
(2023: £325k) and individual impairment provision of 
£173k (2023:£ 306k.)

The collective impairment provision is calculated using 
year end data from the mortgage book, combined 
with assumptions for the portfolio default rate, future 
collateral values and time to recovery. These are based 
on management judgement given the limited loss 
experience of the Society.

The individual impairment provision is calculated 
separately from the collective provision model to 
individual accounts where management has identified 
indicators of impairment. This includes accounts where 
the borrower appears to be suffering financial distress 
for example accounts with a history of arrears or 
having been offered forbearance arrangements.

The Society has limited experience of loan losses being 
incurred and therefore assumptions used in the models 
involve a greater degree of management judgement.

The disclosures are given in note 11. Managements’ 
associated accounting policies are given in note 1. 
Managements’ judgements in the application of the 
accounting policy and critical estimate is disclosed in 
note 1.12. The Audit Committee’s consideration of the 
matter is described on page 31.

We discussed the basis of impairment provision for 
loans and advances to customers with management 
and the Audit Committee, including rationale for the 
accounts identified within the individual assessed 
provision.

We tested the data used within the calculations to 
evidence from underlying customer records. This 
included obtaining evidence on a sample basis over 
the charge held by the Society on the mortgaged 
properties, testing the accuracy of third party 
independent valuations and recalculating the period 
end collateral valuations using independently sourced 
House Price indices.

We confirmed that the provision calculations were 
mathematically accurate and captured all loan data 
through reconciliation of the models to the loan 
book. We read the impairment disclosures given by 
management and re-performed the disclosed sensitivity 
analysis.

With regards to the collective provision we understood, 
evaluated and challenged the appropriateness of the 
assumptions used by management by considering 
alternative assumptions based on industry data, market 
forecasts and the actual loss experience of the Society.

We tested the completeness of the individually 
assessed provision by selecting a sample of loans 
under forbearance measures or in arrears and ensuring 
their inclusion within the provision. We tested the 
completeness of accounts in arrears by sampling 
customers who had failed to make a mortgage 
repayment, ensuring this was flagged correctly in the 
mortgage system. We tested the existence of further 
impairment events by sample testing high value 
loan exposures and reviewing the latest account 
correspondence. We read the credit committee 
minutes to identify all the cases discussed to ensure 
completeness of the individually assessed list.

Based on the procedures we performed and the 
evidence obtained we conclude that the calculation 
of the impairment provision is materially complete 
and accurate, and the overall level of provision held is 
reasonable.
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How we tailored the audit scope 
We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an 
opinion on the annual accounts as a whole, taking into account the structure of the society, the 
accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which it operates.

All of the Society’s business takes place in the United Kingdom. The principal activity of the Society is to 
provide savings products to individuals to fund secured lending on residential property. The majority of 
the Society’s mortgage book is secured on UK residential property with a small portion secured on UK 
commercial property. The Society is a stand alone entity and the accounting records are maintained at 
their office in Stafford.

Audit procedures were performed over all material balances and financial information of the Society by 
a single audit team from Manchester. The team visited the Stafford office and conducted the audit with 
a blend of in person and remote working.

The impact of climate risk on our audit
As part of our audit we made enquiries of management to understand the process management 
adopted to assess the extent of the potential impact of climate risk on the Society’s financial statements 
and support the disclosures made in relation to climate change in the Annual Report & Accounts.     

In addition to enquiries with management, we also:

•	 Considered the exposure of the Society’s mortgage portfolio to physical and transition risks by 
examining the output of assessments performed by management during the year; and

•	 Considered the consistency of the disclosures in relation to climate change within the Annual 
Report & Accounts with the financial statements and our knowledge obtained from our audit.

Our procedures did not identify any material impact in the context of our audit of the financial 
statements as a whole, or our key audit matter for the year ended 31 October 2024.

Materiality
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative 
thresholds for materiality. These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the 
scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures on the individual financial 
statement line items and disclosures and in evaluating the effect of misstatements, both individually and 
in aggregate on the annual accounts as a whole. 

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the annual accounts as a whole as 
follows:

Overall materiality £ 274,500 (2023: £269,000)

How we determined it 1% of net assets

Rationale for benchmark applied The Society’s principal activity is to provide residential mortgage loans financed 
by retail savings products. The strategy is not one purely of profit maximisation 
but to provide a secure place for customer savings in a mutual environment. 
The soundness of the Society is based on its regulatory capital, which is closely 
aligned to accounting reserves. As such we consider a benchmark based on net 
assets to be appropriate. 

We use performance materiality to reduce to an appropriately low level the probability that the 
aggregate of uncorrected and undetected misstatements exceeds overall materiality. Specifically, we use 
performance materiality in determining the scope of our audit and the nature and extent of our testing 
of account balances, classes of transactions and disclosures, for example in determining sample sizes. 
Our performance materiality was 75% of overall materiality, amounting to £205,900 (2023: £201,000).
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In determining the performance materiality, we considered a number of factors - the history of 
misstatements, risk assessment and aggregation risk and the effectiveness of controls - and concluded 
that an amount in the middle of our normal range was appropriate.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements identified during 
our audit above £13,700 (2023: £13,000) as well as misstatements below that amount that, in our view, 
warranted reporting for qualitative reasons.

Conclusions relating to going concern
Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the society’s ability to continue to adopt the going 
concern basis of accounting included:

•	 We critically assessed the directors’ conclusions on their going concern assessment, including any 
key assumptions used by the directors in their determination of the going concern of the Society;

•	 We reviewed the impact of management’s stress test scenarios and considered the likelihood 
of successful implementation of management actions to mitigate the impacts. We considered 
whether the Society would continue to operate above required regulatory capital and liquidity 
minima during times of stress;

•	 We challenged the reasonableness of the scenarios used by the directors in their going concern 
assessment and checked the appropriateness of the assumptions used within their forecasting;

•	 Corroborated legal and regulatory correspondence with audit procedures performed to ensure 
that there are no compliance issues which may impact the going concern of the society; and

•	 We evaluated management’s disclosures in the Annual Report and checked the consistency of the 
disclosures with our knowledge of the Society based on our audit.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to 
events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the society’s ability to 
continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from the date on which the annual 
accounts are authorised for issue.

In auditing the annual accounts, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis 
of accounting in the preparation of the annual accounts is appropriate.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this conclusion is not a 
guarantee as to the society’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described 
in the relevant sections of this report.

Reporting on other information 
The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the annual 
accounts and our auditors’ report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our 
opinion on the annual accounts does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not 
express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form of 
assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the annual accounts, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the annual 
accounts or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If 
we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material misstatement, we are required to perform 
procedures to conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the annual accounts or a material 
misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there 
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing 
to report based on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Annual Business Statement and Directors’ Report we also considered whether 
the disclosures required by the Building Societies Act 1986 have been included. Based on our work 
undertaken in the course of the audit, the Building Societies Act 1986 requires us also to report certain 
opinions and matters as described below.
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Building Societies Act 1986 – Opinion on Annual Business Statement and Directors’ Report
In our opinion, based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit:

•	 The Annual Business Statement and the Directors’ Report have been prepared in accordance with 
the requirements of the Building Societies Act 1986;

•	 The information given in the Directors’ Report for the year ended 31st October 2024 is consistent 
with the accounting records and the annual accounts; and

•	 The information given in the Annual Business Statement (other than the information upon which 
we are not required to report) gives a true representation of the matters in respect of which it is 
given.   

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the society and its environment obtained in the course 
of the audit, we did not identify any material misstatements in the Directors’ Report.

Responsibilities for the annual accounts and the audit
Responsibilities of the directors for the annual accounts
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities, the directors are responsible for 
the preparation of the annual accounts in accordance with the applicable framework and for being 
satisfied that they give a true and fair view. The directors are also responsible for such internal control 
as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of annual accounts that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the annual accounts, the directors are responsible for assessing the society’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the society or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the annual accounts
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the annual accounts as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these annual accounts. 

Our audit testing might include testing complete populations of certain transactions and balances, 
possibly using data auditing techniques. However, it typically involves selecting a limited number of 
items for testing, rather than testing complete populations. We will often seek to target particular items 
for testing based on their size or risk characteristics. In other cases, we will use audit sampling to enable 
us to draw a conclusion about the population from which the sample is selected.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the annual accounts is located on the 
Financial Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms 
part of our auditors’ report.

Use of this report
This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the society’s members as a body 
in accordance with Section 78 of the Building Societies Act 1986 and for no other purpose. We do not, 
in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to 
whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior 
consent in writing.
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Other required reporting
Building Societies Act 1986 exception reporting
Under the Building Societies Act 1986 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

•	 Adequate accounting records have not been kept by the society; or

•	 The society annual accounts are not in agreement with the accounting records; or

•	 We have not received all the information and explanations and access to documents we require 
for our audit.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Appointment
Following the recommendation of the audit committee, we were appointed by the directors on 24th 
February 2020 to audit the annual accounts for the year ended 31st October 2020 and subsequent 
financial periods. The period of total uninterrupted engagement is 5 years, covering the years ended 31st 
October 2020 to 31st October 2024.

Daniel Brydon (Senior Statutory Auditor)  
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 
Manchester

 
17th December, 2024



44

The Stafford Building Society				    Annual Report & Accounts | 31 October 2024

Statement of 
Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 October 2024

Note 2024
£’000

2023 restated*
£’000

Interest receivable and similar income 2 17,078 13,437

Interest payable and similar charges 3 (10,894) (6,858)

Net interest income 6,184 6,579

Fees and commissions receivable 26 24

Fees and commissions payable (18) (9)

Total net income 6,192 6,594

Administrative expenses 4 (4,803) (4,295)

Administrative expenses - IT 4 (144) -

Depreciation 12 (71) (69)

Operating profit before impairment losses and provisions 1,174 2,230

Impairment movement on loans and advances 11 174 (161)

Profit before tax 1,348 2,069

Tax expense 7 (343) (467)

Profit for the financial year 1,005 1,602

Other comprehensive (expense)/income

(Loss)/Gain in fair value 9 (14) 83

Taxation on other comprehensive (expense)/income 4 (20)

Total comprehensive income for the year 995 1,665

*Details of prior year restatements can be found in section 1.3 of the notes to the accounts on pages 48 to 68.

Profit for the financial year arises from continuing operations. Both the profit for the financial year and 
other comprehensive (expense)/income for the year are attributable to the Members of the Society.

The notes on pages 48 to 68 form an integral part of these Annual Report and Accounts.
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Statement of 
Financial Position
At 31 October 2024

Note 2024 
£’000

2023 restated*
£’000

Total Assets

Liquid assets

Cash in hand and balances with the Bank of England 8 54,756 68,982

Loans and advances to credit institutions 8 7,328 4,722

Debt securities 9 24,011 10,264

Loans and advances to customers 10 237,101 223,206

Tangible fixed assets 12 538 556

Other debtors 13 303 219

Deferred tax assets 14 27 39

Total assets 324,064 307,988

Total Liabilities

Shares 15 281,354 266,499

Amounts owed to other customers 16 14,411 14,176

Other liabilities 17 183 238

Accruals and deferred income 664 618

Total liabilities 296,612 281,531

Reserves

General reserve 27,464 26,459

Available-for-sale reserve (12) (2)

Total reserves attributable to Members of the Society 27,452 26,457

Total reserves and liabilities 324,064 307,988
*Details of prior year restatements can be found in section 1.3 of the notes to the accounts on pages 48 to 68.

The financial statements on pages 44 to 68 were approved by the Board of Directors on 17 December 
2024 and signed on its behalf by:

Joanne Hindle, 		  Steven Jones, 		  Matthew Rowell,
Chair			   Chief Executive		  Chief Financial Officer

The notes on pages 48 to 68 form an integral part of these Annual Report and Accounts.
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Statement of 
Changes in Members’ Interests

2024 2023

General 
Reserve 
£’000

Available 
for Sale 
Reserve 
£’000

Total
£’000

General 
Reserve
£’000

Available for 
Sale Reserve 

£’000

Total
£’000

Balance at the beginning of 
the year

26,459 (2) 26,457 24,857 (65) 24,792

Total comprehensive 
(expense)/income for the 
year

Profit for the financial year 1,005 - 1,005 1,602 - 1,602

Other comprehensive 
(expense)/income

(Loss)/Gain in fair value - (14) (14) - 83 83

Taxation on other 
comprehensive income

- 4 4 - (20) (20)

Total comprehensive 
(expense)/income for the 
year

1,005 (10) 995 1,602 63 1,665

Balance at the end of the 
year

27,464 (12) 27,452 26,459 (2) 26,457
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Cash Flow 
Statement
For the year ended 31 October 2024

Notes 2024 
£’000

2023
£’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before tax 1,348 2,069

Adjustments for

Depreciation 12 71 69

(Decrease)/Increase in impairment of loans and advances 11 (202) 161

Movement in premium and accrued interest on debt securities 9 (654) (553)

Total 563 1,746

Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Increase in prepayments, accrued income and other assets 13 (84) (35)

Increase in accruals, deferred income and other liabilities 46 16

Increase in loans and advances to customers 10 (13,693) (21,110)

Increase in shares 15 14,855 14,836

Increase in amounts owed to other credit institutions and other customers 16 235 12

Taxation paid (382) (571)

Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities 1,540 (5,106)

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of debt securities 9 (23,644) (10,004)

Maturity of debt securities 9 10,537 15,927

Purchase of tangible fixed assets 12 (53) (19)

Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities (13,160) 5,904

Net (Decrease)/Increase in cash and cash equivalents (11,620) 798

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 8 73,704 72,906

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 8 62,084 73,704
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Notes to the 
Accounts 
1.  Accounting policies
The Stafford Railway Building Society (the ‘Society’) has prepared these Society Annual Report and 
Accounts in accordance with the Building Societies Act 1986, the Building Societies (Accounts and 
Related Provisions) Regulations 1998 and Financial Reporting Standard 102, The Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and Republic of Ireland (‘FRS 102’). The Society has 
also chosen to apply the recognition and measurement provisions of IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement (as adopted for use in the United Kingdom).

Judgments and estimates with a significant  risk  of  material adjustment in the next year are discussed 
in note 1.12.

Judgements made by the Directors, in the application of these accounting policies that have a 
significant effect on the Annual Report and Accounts and estimates with a significant  risk  of  material 
adjustment in the next year are discussed in note 1.12.

1.1  Going Concern
The Society prepares detailed forecasts (‘the Corporate plan’) for the three years following the year 
ended in these Annual Report and Accounts. The forecast gives consideration to the current global 
instability and those factors affecting the UK economy. These include rising interest rates, inflationary 
pressures, unemployment rates and the cost of living. Furthermore, the Society models the impact of 
severe but plausible scenarios on capital and liquidity through robust stress testing and analysis of 
changes on key sensitivities. 

These severe but plausible stresses are established and defined in detail during the annual ICAAP and 
ILAAP, in line with PRA requirements. Considerations are given to a range of factors, including but not 
limited to HPI fluctuations, changes in customer propensity of default, unemployment, interest rate 
changes and circumstances that may give rise to funding outflows either on an idiosyncratic level or 
sector wide.

The Society maintains a surplus over regulatory limits for both capital and liquidity throughout the 
stresses. The Board, therefore, are satisfied that the Society has adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for a period of at least 12 months from the date of approval of these Annual 
Report and Accounts. Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the 
Annual Report and Accounts.

1.2  Measurement convention
The Annual Report and Accounts are prepared on a going concern basis under the historical 
convention basis with the exception that the Society has elected to adopt IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement which requires the Society to measure its debt securities that it has 
classified as ‘Available-For-Sale’ at fair value with interest and amortisation recognised using the 
effective interest rate method.

The presentation currency of these Annual Report and Accounts is sterling. All amounts in the Annual 
Accounts have been rounded to the nearest £1,000. There are no foreign currency transactions.
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1.3 Prior year restatements
The presentation of the amounts held by the Society with the Bank of England of £68.9m have been 
reclassified from Loans and Advances to Credit Institutions to cash in hand and balances with the 
Bank of England so as to align with the current year presentation and to comply with statutory formats. 
There is no impact on total liquid assets, total assets, net assets, gross or net profit. In the Statement 
of Financial Position, Loans and advances to credit institutions decreases from £73.6m to £4.7m. This 
change is also reflected in note 8 (Loan and advances to credit institutions.)

Other Operating Income has been reclassified to Fees and Commissions Receivable and Interest 
receivable and similar income so as to more accurately reflect the nature of the underlying transactions 
and to align with the current year presentation. This has no impact on Total net income, gross or net 
profit, total assets, net assets or net interest margin %. In the Statement of Comprehensive Income this 
has increased Fees and Commissions Receivable by £23k and Interest receivable and similar income by 
£25k with a reduction in Other operating income of £48k.

1.4  Interest
Interest income and expense are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method. The 
‘effective interest rate’ is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments and 
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability (or, where appropriate, a 
shorter period) to the carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the 
effective interest rate, the Society estimates future cash flows considering all contractual terms of the 
financial instrument, but not future credit losses.

The calculation of the effective interest rate includes transaction costs and fees paid or received that are 
an integral part of the effective interest rate. Transaction costs include incremental costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of a financial asset or financial liability.

Interest income and expense presented in the Statement of Comprehensive Income includes:

•	 Interest on financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost calculated on an 
effective interest basis; and

•	 Interest on available-for-sale debt securities calculated on an effective interest basis.

1.5  Fees and commission
Fees payable and receivable, other than relating to mortgage loans (which are recognised in 
accordance with effective interest rate accounting as set out in section 1.4) are recognised when the 
relevant service is provided.

1.6  Taxation
Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly 
in equity or other comprehensive income, in which case it is recognised directly in equity or other 
comprehensive income. Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or 
loss for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and any 
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided on timing differences which arise from the inclusion of income and expenses in 
tax assessments in periods different from those in which they are recognised in the Annual Accounts. 
The following timing differences are not provided for: differences between accumulated depreciation and 
tax allowances for the cost of a fixed asset if and when all conditions for retaining the tax allowances 
have been met. Deferred tax is not recognised on permanent differences arising because certain types 
of income or expense are non-taxable or are dis-allowable for tax or because certain tax charges or 
allowances are greater or smaller than the corresponding income or expense.
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Deferred tax is measured at the tax rate that is expected to apply to the reversal of the related 
difference, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred tax 
balances are not discounted.

Unrelieved tax losses and other deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that is it probable 
that they will be recovered against the reversal of deferred tax liabilities or other future taxable profits.

1.7  Financial instruments recognition
The Society initially recognises loans and advances to customers, loans and advances to credit 
institutions and debt securities on the date on which they are originated at fair value. All other financial 
instruments are recognised on the trade date, which is the date on which the Society becomes a party 
to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Classification
Financial assets
The Society classifies its financial assets into one of the following categories:

•  Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted on an active market and that the Society does not intend to sell immediately or in the near 
term. Loans and receivables include loans and advances to customers.

The Society measures its loans and advances at amortised cost less impairments. The amortised cost 
of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial recognition minus 
principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest rate method of any 
difference between the initial amount recognised and the maturity amount, minus any reduction for 
impairment.

The initial value may, if applicable include certain fees which are recognised over the average life 
of mortgage assets, as noted above. Throughout the year and at each year-end, the mortgage life 
assumptions for each product are reviewed for appropriateness. Any changes to the expected life 
assumptions of the mortgage assets are recognised through interest receivable and similar income and 
reflected in the carrying value of the mortgage assets.

•  Available-for-sale
Available-for-sale investments are non-derivative investments that are designated as available-for- sale 
or are not classified as another category of financial assets. Available-for-sale investments comprise 
debt securities and are measured at fair value after initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method. Impairment losses are 
recognised in profit or loss.

Other fair value changes, other than impairment losses, are recognised in Other Comprehensive Income 
and presented in the available-for-sale reserve within our reserves. When the investment is sold, the gain 
or loss accumulated in equity is reclassified to profit or loss.

•  Financial liabilities
The Society classifies its financial liabilities as measured at amortised cost.

Derecognition
The Society derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or either 
cancelled or expire.
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Measurement
Amortised cost measurement
The ‘amortised cost’ of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at which the financial asset 
or financial liability is measured at initial recognition, minus principal repayments, plus or minus the 
cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between the initial amount 
recognised and the maturity amount, minus any reduction for impairment.

Identification and measurement of impairment
At each reporting date, the Society assesses whether there is objective evidence that financial assets 
not carried at fair value are impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is ‘impaired’ when 
objective evidence demonstrates that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the 
asset(s) and that the loss event has an impact on the future cash flows of the asset(s) that can be  
estimated reliably.

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired includes:

•	 Significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;
•	 Default or delinquency by a borrower;
•	 The restructuring of a loan or advance by the Society on terms that the Society would not consider 

otherwise;
•	 Indications that a borrower or issuer will enter bankruptcy;
•	 The disappearance of an active market for a security; or
•	 Observable data relating to a group of assets such as adverse changes in the payment status of 

borrowers.

The Society considers evidence of impairment for loans and advances at both an individual asset and 
a collective level. All individually significant loans and advances are assessed for specific impairment. 
Those found not to be individually impaired are then collectively assessed for any impairment that 
has been incurred but not yet identified. Loans and advances that are not individually significant 
are collectively assessed for impairment by grouping together loans and advances with similar risk 
characteristics.

In assessing collective impairment, the Society uses benchmarking to external factors given our limited 
loss experience for the probability of default, the timing of recoveries and the amount of loss incurred 
and makes an adjustment if current economic and credit conditions are such that the actual losses 
are likely to be greater or lesser than is suggested by historical trends. Default rates, loss rates and the 
expected timing of future recoveries are regularly benchmarked against actual outcomes to ensure 
that they remain appropriate. Impairment losses on assets measured at amortised cost are calculated 
as the difference between the carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows 
discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate.

Where certain emerging impairment characteristics are considered significant but not assessed as part 
of the impairment calculation, the Board may elect to apply an overlay to the impairment provision.

The amount of impairment loss is recognised immediately through the income statement and a 
corresponding reduction in the value of the financial asset is recognised through the use of provisions.

 Forbearance strategies and renegotiated loans
A range of forbearance options are available to support customers who are in financial difficulty. The 
purpose of forbearance is to support customers who have temporary financial difficulties and help them 
get back on track. The main options offered by the Society include:

•	 Moving to an interest only arrangement; and
•	 Payment plans.
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Members requesting a forbearance option will need to provide information to support the request which 
is likely to include a budget planner, statement of assets and liabilities, bank/credit card statements, 
payslips etc in order that the request can be properly assessed. If the forbearance request is granted 
the account is monitored in accordance with our policy and procedures. At the appropriate time the 
forbearance option that has been implemented is cancelled, with the exception of capitalisation of 
arrears, and the customer’s normal contractual payment is restored.

Loans that are subject to restructuring may only be classified as restructured and up-to-date once 
a specified number and/or amount of qualifying payments have been received. These qualifying 
payments are set at a level appropriate to the nature of the loan and the customer’s ability to make the 
repayment going forward.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account against loans 
and receivables. If an event occurring after the impairment was recognised causes the amount of 
impairment loss to decrease, then the decrease in impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss. 

Impairment losses on available-for-sale investment securities are recognised by reclassifying the 
losses accumulated in the available for sale reserve in equity to profit or loss. The cumulative loss that 
is reclassified from equity to profit or loss is the difference between the acquisition cost, net of any 
principal repayment and amortisation, and the current fair value, less any impairment loss previously 
recognised in profit or loss. Changes in impairment attributable to application of the effective interest 
method are reflected as a component of interest income.

If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale debt security increases and the 
increase can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, then 
the impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss; otherwise, any increase in fair value is recognised 
through Other Comprehensive Income. Any subsequent recovery in the fair value of an impaired 
available-for-sale equity security is always recognised in Other Comprehensive Income.

1.8  Cash and cash equivalents
For the purposes of the Cash Flow Statement, cash comprises cash in hand, unrestricted loans and 
advances to credit institutions repayable on demand and funds held in the Society’s Bank of England 
reserve account.

Cash equivalents comprise highly liquid unrestricted investments that are readily convertible into cash 
with an insignificant risk of changes in value with original maturities of less than three months. The Cash 
Flow Statement has been prepared using the indirect method.

1.9  Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses. Where parts of an item of tangible fixed assets have different useful lives, they are accounted for 
as separate items of tangible fixed assets, for example land is treated separately from buildings.

The Society assesses at each reporting date whether tangible fixed assets are impaired.

Depreciation is charged to the profit and loss account on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful 
lives of each part of an item of tangible fixed assets. Land is not depreciated. The estimated useful lives 
are as follows:

•	 Freehold Buildings			   50 years
•	 Computer equipment  			   3 years
•	 Office equipment / Fixtures and fittings 	 10 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed if there is an indication of a 
significant change since the last annual reporting date in the pattern by which the Society expects to 
consume an asset’s future economic benefits.

The Society assesses at each reporting date whether any tangible fixed assets are impaired.
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1.10  Employee benefits
A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which the Society pays fixed 
contributions into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further 
amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an 
expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the periods during which services are rendered 
by employees.

1.11  Provisions
A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the entity has a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of a past event, that can be reliably measured, and it is probable that an outflow 
of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are recognised at the best 
estimate of the amount required to settle the obligation at the reporting date.

 1.12  Judgements and estimation uncertainties 
Certain asset and liability amounts reported in the Accounts are based on management estimates, 
judgements and assumptions. There is, therefore, a risk of changes to the carrying amounts for these 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year. The most significant areas where judgements and 
assumptions are made are as follows:

Loan impairment
In determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded, the Society is required to exercise a 
degree of judgement. Impairments are calculated as the difference between expected future cash flows 
and the current outstanding balance, using management’s best estimate of propensity to default using 
all available data. Estimates and assumptions are around the probability of any account defaulting, the 
time taken to complete the sale of properties in possession and the eventual loss incurred in the event of 
forced sale discount, including realisation costs. They are updated as the Board consider appropriate to 
reflect the prevailing economic environment.

In exercising its judgement, the Board consider a number of scenarios, incorporating a range of the key 
variables noted. The scenarios include, for example geographical concentration and type of lending / 
market segment.

The average probability of default used in the collective impairment model is 4.40%. A 2.5% increase in 
the outcome of probability of default would result in an increase in the collective impairment provision 
of £145k (2023: £124k). A more aggressive stress based on a 5% increase would result in an increase of 
£291k  (2023: £249k).

The forced sale discount used in the collective impairment model is in a range of 30% to 45% based 
on the key mortgage segment. A 5% increase in the forced sale discount would result in an increase in 
the collective impairment provision of £173k (2023: £201k). Conversely a 5% decrease would result in a 
decrease in the collective impairment provision of £123k (2023: £150k).

The realisation period used in the provision varied between 18 months to 24 months dependent on 
the type of lending / market segment. A six month increase in the realisation period would result in an 
increase in the collective impairment provision of £58k (2023: £65k).

2.  Interest receivable and similar income

2024
£’000

2023*
£’000

On loans fully secured on residential property 12,911 10,053

On other loans 15 21

On debt securities and other liquid assets 4,152 3,363

Total 17,078 13,437

 *Details of prior year restatements can be found in section 1.3 of the notes to the accounts on pages 48 to 68. 
There is no interest income (2023 none) outstanding in respect of specifically impaired loans.
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3.  Interest payable and similar charges
2024
£’000

2023
£’000

On shares held by individuals 10,458 6,723

On deposits and other borrowings 436 135

Total 10,894 6,858

4.  Administrative expenses
2024
£’000

2023
£’000

Wages and salaries 1,596 1,497

Social security costs 250 219

Contributions to defined contribution plans 169 154

Total Colleague cost 2,015 1,870

Other administrative expenses 2,788 2,425

Other administrative expenses - IT 144 -

Total 4,947 4,295

The remuneration of the external auditor, which is included within other administrative expenses above, 
is set out below (excluding Value Added Tax):

2024
£’000

2023
£’000

Statutory audit of the Annual Report and Accounts 110 109

Total 110 109

5.  Employee numbers
The average number of persons employed by the Society during the year, analysed by category, was as 
shown in the below table.

Average number of employees 2024 2023

Full time 32 30

Part time 13 11

Total 45 41

As at 31 October 2024 the Society employed a total of 48 colleagues (full time 32 and part time 16) (2023: 38 
colleagues, full time 28 and part time 10). The analysis excludes the Society’s Non-Executive Directors.

6.  Directors’ remuneration
Total remuneration of the Society’s Directors for the year was £758.58k (2023: £596.5k). Full details are 
given in the tables within the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 33 to 35.

Fees for Non-Executive Directors are not pensionable, and they do not participate in any incentive 
scheme or receive any other benefit.
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7.  Tax Expense
Total tax expense recognised in the profit and loss account.

Analysis of tax charge in the year: 2024
£’000

2023
£’000

Current tax

United Kingdom corporation tax on income for the period 327 496

Total Current Tax 327 496

Deferred tax (see note 14)

Origination and reversal of timing differences 16 (29)

Total deferred tax 16 (29)

Total tax 343 467

Factors affecting the current tax charge in the year: 2024
£’000

2023
£’000

Profit on ordinary activities before tax 1,348 2,069

Tax or profit on ordinary activities at United Kingdom standard rate of 25% (2023: 22.518%) 337 466

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 6 3

Effect of changes in tax rates 0 (2)

Current tax charge for the year 343 467

Both the current tax charge for the period and closing deferred tax balance sheet items have been 
calculated using a corporation tax rate of 25% being the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK 
during the financial year ended 31 October 2024. 

8.  Cash and cash equivalents
2024
£’000

2023 restated*
£’000

Loans and advances to credit institutions repayable on demand 7,328 4,722

Total loans and advances to credit institutions 7,328 4,722

Cash in hand 66 65

Bank of England reserve account 54,691 68,917

Total cash in hand and balances with the Bank of England 54,756 68,982

Total cash and cash equivalents 62,084 73,704

*Details of prior year restatements can be found in section 1.3 of the notes to the accounts on pages 48 to 68. 
Loans and advances to credit institutions includes £1.7m (2023: £1.8m) of cash-in-transit.
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9.  Debt securities
2024
£’000

2023
£’000

Debt securities have remaining maturities as follows:

In not more than one year 21,541 10,264

In more than one year 2,470 -

Total 24,011 10,264

Transferable debt securities comprise:

Listed on a recognised investment exchange 24,011 10,264

Unlisted - -

Total 24,011 10,264

Movements in debt securities during the year are summarised as follows:

At the beginning of the year 10,264 15,551

Additions 23,644 10,004

Disposals and maturities (10,537) (15,927)

Movement in premium and accrued interest 654 553

(Loss)/Gain in fair value recognised as other comprehensive expense (14) 83

At the end of the year 24,011 10,264

10.  Loans and advances to customers
2024
£’000

2023
£’000

Loans fully secured on residential property 236,954 222,998

Loans fully secured on land 147 208

Total 237,101 223,206

The remaining maturity of loans and advances to customers from the reporting date is as 
follows:

On call and at short notice 284 547

In not more than three months 1 3

In more than three months but not more than one year 2,057 457

In more than one year but not more than five years 14,928 12,769

In more than five years 220,260 210,061

Total 237,530 223,837

Less: allowance for impairment (note 11) (429) (631)

Total 237,101 223,206

The maturity analysis above is based on contractual maturity.
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11.  Impairment movement on Loans and Advances
Loans fully secured on residential property £’000

Impairment provision at 1 November 2023

Individual impairment 306

Collective impairment 325

Total 631

Utilised in the year

Individual impairment (28)

Collective impairment -

Total (28)

Credit for the year

Individual impairment (105)

Collective impairment (69)

Total (174)

At 31 October 2024

Individual impairment 173

Collective impairment 256

Total 429

Loans fully secured on residential property £’000

Impairment provision at 1 November 2022

Individual impairment 226

Collective impairment 244

Total 470

Utilised in the year

Individual impairment -

Collective impairment -

Total -

Charge for the year

Individual impairment 80

Collective impairment 81

Total 161

At 31 October 2023

Individual impairment 306

Collective impairment 325

Total 631
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12.  Tangible fixed assets
Freehold land and 

buildings
£’000

Computer 
equipment

£’000

Office equipment / 
fixtures & fittings

£’000

Total
£’000

Cost

Balance at 1 November 2023 643 188 890 1,721

Additions - 53 - 53

Disposals - - - -

Balance at 31 October 2024 643 241 890 1,774

Accumulated Depreciation

Balance at 1 November 2023 329 174 662 1,165

Depreciation charge for the year 15 12 44 71

Disposals - - - -

Balance at 31 October 2024 344 186 706 1,236

Net book value

At 31 October 2023 314 14 228 556

At 31 October 2024 299 55 184 538

Land and buildings
The net book value of land and buildings comprises:

2024
£’000

2023
£’000

Freehold 299 314

Net book value of land and buildings occupied for own use 299 314

13.  Other debtors
2024
£’000

2023
£’000

Prepayments and accrued income 303 219

Total 303 219
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14.  Deferred tax assets
Assets Liabilities Net

2024
£’000

2023
£’000

2024
£’000

2023
£’000

2024
£’000

2023
£’000

Excess of capital allowances over depreciation - - (39) (38) (39) (38)

Effective Interest Rate transitional adjustment - - (2) (5) (2) (5)

Collective impairment allowance 64 81 - - 64 81

Taxation on other comprehensive expense 4 1 - - 4 1

Deferred tax assets / (liabilities) 68 82 (41) (43) 27 39

The deferred tax asset is recognised at the substantively enacted rate of 25.00% (2023: 25.00%).

15.  Shares
2024
£’000

2023
£’000

Held by individuals 281,354 266,499

Shares are repayable with remaining maturities from the balance sheet date as follows:

Repayable on demand 197,981 199,716

In not more than 3 months 60,058 42,586

More than 3 months but not more than 1 year 23,315 23,229

More than 1 year - 968

Total 281,354 266,499

16.  Amounts owed to other customers
2024
£’000

2023
£’000

Repayable on demand 14,411 14,176

Total 14,411 14,176

17.  Other liabilities
2024
£’000

2023
£’000

Corporation tax 183 238

Total 183 238

18.  Employee benefits: Defined contribution plans
During the year, the Society has contributed to the personal pension plans of its colleagues. The pension 
charge in relation to these plans for the year was £169,079 (2023: £154,720). There were £21,848 accrued 
contributions as at 31 October 2024 (2023: none).
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19.  Financial instruments
A financial instrument is a contract that gives rise to a financial asset or financial liability. The Society is 
a retailer of financial instruments in the form of mortgage and savings products. The Society does not 
run a trading book. The Society has a formal structure for managing risk, including established risk limits, 
reporting lines, mandates, credit risk appetite and other control procedures. The Board delegated Risk 
Committee is responsible for managing the Society’s overall exposure to risk.

ALCO reviews treasury and balance sheet risk related activities and the Product Development 
Committee examines market movements to discern changes required to the Society’s product range.

Key performance indicators in the form of a dashboard, are provided to the Board on a monthly 
basis and summary information is reviewed on a weekly basis by Management. Financial assets and 
liabilities are measured on an on-going basis either at fair value or at amortised cost. Note 1.7 ‘Financial 
instruments’ describes how the classes of financial instruments are measured, and how income and 
expenses, including fair value gains and losses, are recognised. The following tables analyse the 
Society’s assets and liabilities by financial classification.

Carrying values by category 
31 October 2024

Held at amortised cost Held at fair value

Loans and 
receivables

£’000

Financial 
liabilities at 
amortised 

Cost
£’000

Other non 
financial 

assets and 
liabilities

£’000

Available for 
sale

£’000

Total
£’000

Financial assets

Loans and advances to credit 
institutions

7,328 - - - 7,328

Cash in hand and balances with 
the Bank of England

54,756 - - - 54,756

Debt securities - - - 24,011 24,011

Loans and advances to customers 237,101 - - - 237,101

Total financial assets 299,185 - - 24,011 323,196

Financial liabilities

Shares - 281,354 - - 281,354

Amounts owed to other customers - 14,411 - - 14,411

Total financial liabilities - 295,765 - - 295,765
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Carrying values by category 
31 October 2023*

Held at amortised cost Held at fair value

Loans and 
receivables

£’000

Financial 
liabilities at 
amortised 

Cost
£’000

Other non-
financial 

assets and 
liabilities

£’000

Available for 
sale

£’000

Total
£’000

Financial assets

Loans and advances to credit 
institutions

4,722 - - - 4,722

Cash in hand and balances with 
the Bank of England

68,982 - - - 68,982

Debt securities - - - 10,264 10,264

Loans and advances to customers 223,206 - - - 223,206

Total financial assets 296,910 - - 10,264 307,174

Financial liabilities

Shares - 266,499 - - 266,499

Amounts owed to other customers - 14,176 - - 14,176

Total financial liabilities - 280,675 - - 280,675

*Details of prior year requirments can be found in section 1.3 of the notes to the accounts on pages 48 to 68.

Valuation of financial instruments carried at fair value
The Society holds certain financial assets and liabilities at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 of the fair 
value hierarchy (see below).

Valuation techniques
Fair values are determined using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the 
inputs in measuring fair value:

Level 1: The most reliable fair values of financial instruments are quoted market prices in an actively 
traded market.

Level 2: These are valuation techniques for which all significant inputs are taken from observable market 
data.  These include valuation models used to calculate the present value of expected future cash 
flows and may be employed when no active market exists, and quoted prices are available for similar 
instruments in active markets.

Level 3: These are valuation techniques for which one or more significant inputs is not based on 
observable market data.  Valuation techniques include net present value by way of discounted cash flow 
models.

The Society holds £24.01m (2023: £10.26m) in debt securities. These securities are accounted for at fair 
value using the Level 1 valuation methodology.

Valuation techniques
The main valuation technique employed by the Society to establish fair value of the financial instruments 
disclosed above are set out below:

Debt securities 	 Level 1: Market prices have been used to determine the fair value of listed debt 	
		  securities.
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Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of loss or delay if a customer or counter-party fails to perform their obligations, such 
as the timely repayment of a loan or other credit arrangement. The Society has no appetite for material 
credit losses. This is controlled through credit quality standards, underwriting rules, as well as limits by 
exposure to counter-party, sector, country and instrument. The Society’s maximum credit risk exposure is 
detailed in the table below:

2024
£’000

2023*
£’000

Loans and advances to credit institutions 7,328 4,722

Cash and cash equivalents 54,756 68,982

Debt securities 24,011 10,264

Loans and advances to customers 237,101 223,206

Total statement of financial position exposure 323,196 307,174

Off balance sheet exposure – mortgage commitments 19,264 18,015

Total 342,460 325,189

*Details of prior year restatements can be found in section 1.3 of the notes to the accounts on pages 48 to 68
The Society does not use credit derivatives, or similar instruments, to manage its credit risk.

Loans and advances to credit institutions and debt securities
ALCO is responsible for approving treasury counter-parties for investment purposes. The credit risk 
appetite for liquid assets is defined by: the minimum counter-party credit rating; the permissible 
instruments; the maximum percentage of total liquid assets held at each credit risk level; and the 
investment term. This is monitored daily by the Society’s Executive and Management and reviewed 
monthly by ALCO.

An analysis of the Society’s liquid asset concentration is shown in the table below:

2024 2023

£’000 % £’000 %

Industry sector

Banks 19,188 22.3 15,051 17.9

Bank of England 54,690 63.5 68,917 82.1

Building Societies 2,470 2.9 - -

Government Treasury Bills 9,747 11.3 - -

Total 86,095 100.0 83,968 100.0

Geographic Region 2024
£’000

AA- % A+ % A % A- % 2023

United Kingdom 86,095 77.48 19.65 2.87 0.00 83,968

The Society has no exposure to foreign exchange risk. All instruments are denominated in sterling.

There are no impairment charges against any of the Society’s liquid assets at 31 October 2024 (2023: 
none).
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Loans and advances to customers
An analysis of the Society’s industry sector concentration is shown in the table below:

2024 2023

Industry sector - Residential mortgages £’000 % £’000 %

Owner occupied 206,232 86.8 194,598 86.9

Buy-to-let 31,151 13.1 29,031 13.0

Commercial mortgages 147 0.1 208 0.1

Total Gross Mortgages 237,530 100.0 223,837 100.0

The Society operates throughout England and Wales.
An analysis of the Society’s geographical concentration is shown in the table below:

2024 2023

£’000 % £’000 %

Stafford ST16 - ST18 16,537 7.0 20,226 9.0

Rest of Staffordshire 23,739 10.0 23,804 10.7

Rest of United Kingdom 197,254 83.0 179,807 80.3

Total Gross Mortgages 237,530 100.0 223,837 100.0

The tables below stratify credit exposures from mortgage loans and advances to retail customers by 
ranges of the LTV ratio. LTV is calculated as the ratio of the gross amount of the loan or the amount 
committed for loan commitments to the value of the collateral. The gross amounts exclude any 
impairment allowance. The valuation of the collateral excludes any adjustments for obtaining and selling 
the collateral. The value of the collateral for residential mortgage loans is based on the collateral value 
at origination updated based on changes in house price indices.

2024 2023

LTV ratio £’000 % £’000 %

Less than 50% 130,331 54.9 131,507 58.8

50 – 70% 74,232 31.2 69,349 31.0

71 – 90% 32,759 13.8 22,576 10.0

91 – 100% 208 0.1 405 0.2

Total Gross Mortgages 237,530 100.0 223,837 100.0

Average LTV 32.4% 32.2%
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Credit risk
The table below sets out information about the credit quality of financial assets and the allowance for 
impairment / loss held by the Society against those assets.

2024 2023

Loans fully secured on residential 
property

Loans fully 
secured on 
residential 
property

£’000

Loans 
fully 

secured 
on land
£’000

Total 
loans
£’000

Loans fully 
secured on 
residential 
property

£’000

Loans 
fully 

secured 
on land
£’000

Total loans
£’000

Neither past due nor impaired 233,746 77 233,823 218,286 208 218,494

Past due but not impaired

0 – 60 days 2,664 70 2,734 4,051 - 4,051

60 – 90 days 493 - 493 172 - 172

90 – 180 days 181 - 181 303 - 303

180 days+ 125 - 125 368 - 368

Total Past due but not impaired 3,463 70 3,533 4,894 - 4,894

Individually impaired

0 – 60 days 174 - 174 449 - 449

Total Individually impaired 174 - 174 449 - 449

Total Gross Mortgages 237,383 147 237,530 223,629 208 223,837

Allowance

Individual (173) - (173) (306) - (306)

Collective (256) - (256) (325) - (325)

Total allowance for impairment (429) - (429) (631) - (631)

Totals Loans and advances to 
customers

236,954 147 237,101 222,998 208 223,206

Individual assessments are made of all mortgage loans where objective evidence indicates that losses 
are likely (for example when loans are past due) or the property is in possession, or where fraud or 
negligence has been identified.

The status ‘past due but not impaired’ includes any asset where a payment due is received late or 
missed but no individual provision has been allocated. The amount included is the entire loan amount 
rather than just the overdue amount. The status also includes cases in forbearance measures, which as 
at 31 October 2024 totalled £1.22m (2023: £0.39m).

Possession balances would represent those loans where the Society has taken ownership of the 
underlying security pending its sale. Repossessed properties are made available-for-sale in accordance 
with statutory guidelines with proceeds used to reduce or repay the outstanding loan. Any collateral 
surplus on the sale of repossessed properties, after a deduction for costs incurred in relation to the sale, 
would be returned to the borrower.

Forbearance
The Society has various forbearance options to support Members who may find themselves in financial 
difficulty. These include payment plans, capitalisations, term extensions, temporary transfer to interest 
only and reduced payment concessions. All forbearance arrangements are formally discussed with 
the Member and reviewed prior to acceptance of the forbearance arrangement. By offering Members 
in financial difficulty the option of forbearance the Society potentially exposes itself to an increased 
level of risk through prolonging the period of non-contractual payment and/or potentially placing the 
Member into a detrimental position at the end of the forbearance period.
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Regular monitoring of the level and different types of forbearance activity are reported on a monthly 
basis. In addition, all forbearance arrangements are reviewed and discussed with the Member on a 
regular basis to assess the ongoing potential risk to the Society and suitability of the arrangement for 
the Member. The table below analyses residential mortgage balances under forbearance arrangements 
at the year-end:

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

Payment plan 856 59

Transfers to interest only 365 332

Total 1,221 391

These represent a total of thirteen accounts in forbearance at 31 October 2024 (2023: seven). These 
accounts are shown above as impaired. Three individual impairments in respect of cases in forbearance 
have been recognised (2023: seven).

Liquidity risk
Liquidity Risk is the risk that the Society, although solvent, has insufficient financial resources available 
to meet its obligations as they fall due, or can only secure those resources at excessive cost.

The Society must at all times have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities over all reasonable market-
wide and Society-specific stress scenarios (both short- term and long-term) over the economic cycle, 
expressed in terms of a survival period. The Society has a conservative approach to managing liquidity 
risk and requires sufficient liquid assets to be maintained in order to:

•	 Meet day-to-day business needs;
•	 Cater for an unexpected funding stress scenario; and
•	 Ensure maturity mismatches are provided for.

Balance sheet and liquidity risk limits (including counter-party limits) are set to support this risk appetite 
within the Society’s suite of treasury and liquidity policies. The monitoring of liquidity, in line with the 
Society’s policy framework, is performed daily by the Executive and Management.

The Society’s Liquidity and Funding Policy is designed to ensure that the Society has sufficient liquid 
resources to withstand a range of stressed scenarios. A series of liquidity stress tests have been 
developed as part of the Society’s ILAAP. They include scenarios that fulfil the specific requirements of 
the PRA, the idiosyncratic, market-wide and combination stress tests and scenarios identified by the 
Society which are specific to its business model.

Stress tests are performed monthly and reported to ALCO to confirm that the Policy remains appropriate. 
The Society’s liquid resources comprise high quality liquid assets, which consists of the Bank of England 
Reserve Account and can include Gilts and Treasury Bills. As at 31 October 2024 the ratio of liquid assets 
to shares and amounts owed to other customers was 29.11% compared to 29.92% at 31 October 2023.

The Society maintains a Contingency Funding Plan (integrated within the Recovery Plan) to ensure that 
it has so far as possible, sufficient liquid financial resources to meet liabilities as they fall due under each 
of the scenarios. All Society liquid assets are unencumbered as at the balance sheet date. The tables 
below set out maturity analysis for financial liabilities that shows the remaining contractual maturities at 
undiscounted amounts. The analysis of gross contractual cash flows differs from the analysis of residual 
maturity due to the inclusion of interest accrued at current rates, for the average period until maturity on 
the amounts outstanding at the statement of financial position date.
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31 October 2024 On 
demand 
£’000

Not more 
than three 

months 
£’000

More than 
three months 
but not more 
than one year 

£’000

More than one 
year but not more 

than five £’000

More 
than five 

£’000

Total 
£’000

Financial Liabilities

Shares 197,981 60,577 23,741 - - 282,299

Amounts owed to 
other customers

14,411 - - - - 14,411

212,392 60,577 23,741 - - 296,710

Other liabilities - 664 183 - - 847

Total financial 
liabilities

212,392 61,241 23,924 - - 297,557

31 October 2023 On 
demand 
£’000

Not more 
than three 

months 
£’000

More than 
three months 
but not more 
than one year 

£’000

More than one 
year but not more 

than five £’000

More 
than five 

£’000

Total 
£’000

Financial Liabilities

Shares 199,716 42,957 23,668 1,072 - 267,413

Amounts owed to 
other customers

14,176 - - - - 14,176

213,892 42,957 23,668 1,072 - 281,589

Other liabilities - 618 238 - - 856

Total financial 
liabilities

213,892 43,575 23,906 1,072 - 282,445

The comparatives for the year ended 31st October 2023 have been adjusted to include expected interest 
in-line with the current year presentation and to comply with FRS 102 requirements. Details of prior year 
restatements can be found in section 1.3 of the notes to the accounts on pages 48 to 68.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the value of, or income arising from, the Society’s assets and liabilities 
changes as a result of changes in market prices, the principal elements being interest rate risk, foreign 
currency risk and equity risk.

The Society only deals with products in sterling so is not directly affected by currency risk. The Society’s 
products are also only interest orientated products so are not exposed to other pricing risks.

The Society’s interest rate risk arises from the impact changes in interest rates have on the Society’s 
cash flows. The Society’s savings and mortgage products are predominately variable and therefore the 
interest rate risk for the Society is significantly less than for other similar institutions. The Society’s main 
exposure to interest rates arises from its investment in Government gilts, certificates of deposit and other 
corporate bonds with approved counterparties which are at fixed rates of interest. The Society uses 
specialist external treasury advisers for investing surplus funds and has a good spread of maturity of its 
invested monies to manage this risk effectively.
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The management of interest rate risk against interest rate gap limits is supplemented by monitoring the 
sensitivity of the Society’s financial assets and financial liabilities to various standard and non-standard 
interest rate scenarios. Standard scenarios that are considered on a monthly basis include a 100-basis 
point (‘bp’) parallel fall or rise in the SONIA yield curve and a 50bp rise or fall in the greater than 
12-month portion of the SONIA yield curve. The following is an analysis of the Society’s sensitivity to an 
increase or decrease in market interest rates, assuming no asymmetrical movement in yield curves and a 
constant financial position. The impact to profit would be the same to equity.

Sensitivity of projected net 
interest income

100bp parallel 
increase

£’000

100bp parallel 
decrease

£’000

50bp increase 
after 1 year

£’000

50bp decrease 
after 1 year

£’000

At 31 October 2024

Average for the period 444 148 312 279

Maximum for the period 455 149 318 283

Minimum for the period 432 146 306 274

At 31 October 2023

Average for the period 204 68 137 134

Maximum for the period 208 68 139 136

Minimum for the period 199 67 135 133

The Society is exposed to movements in interest rates and manages this exposure on a continuous 
basis, within limits set by the Board, using only instruments recorded on the balance sheet. The results 
are reported to ALCO, Risk Committee and the Board.

Capital
The Society’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base to maintain Member, creditor and market 
confidence and to sustain future development of the business. The formal ICAAP assists the Society with 
its management of capital. The Board monitors the Society’s capital position regularly to assess whether 
adequate capital is held to mitigate the risks it faces in the course of its business activities. The Society’s 
capital requirements are set and monitored by the PRA.  However, the Society’s actual and expected 
capital position is reviewed against the Board’s stated risk appetite which aims to maintain capital at a 
level that equates to or exceeds its Total Capital Requirements.

There were no reported breaches of capital requirements during the year.  The following table shows the 
composition of the Society’s regulatory capital:

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

Tier 1 Capital

General reserves 27,464 26,459

Available-for-sale reserve (12) (2)

Total reserves 27,452 26,457

Tier 2 Capital

Collective provision 256 325

Total Regulatory Capital 27,708 26,782
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20.  Commitments
There were no contractual commitments to purchase tangible fixed assets at the year-end (2023: none) 
for the Society.

21.  Related parties
Related parties comprise of key management personnel, being the Executive Directors and Non- 
Executive Directors who are responsible for ensuring that the Society meets its strategic and operational 
objectives. In the normal course of business, key management personnel, and their close family 
members, transacted with the Society. The balances of transactions with key management personnel 
and their close family members are disclosed below.

As required under Section 68 of the Building Societies Act 1986, a Register is maintained at the Head 
Office of the Society which shows details of all loans, transactions and arrangements between the 
Society and its Directors and connected persons. A statement, for the current financial year, of the 
appropriate details contained in the Register will be available for inspection at the Head Office for a 
period of fifteen days up to and including the day of the AGM.

At 31 October 2024 there were no outstanding mortgage loans granted in the ordinary course of 
business (2023: None).

Directors’ and connected parties hold savings balances with the Society; all accounts have the same 
terms and conditions as available to Members of the Society. The savings balances are not detailed in 
the register unlike loans and transactions above, due to their sensitive nature. The aggregate amount of 
all savings balances at 31 October 2024 was £121,861 (2023: £91,114).

22.  Subsequent events
The Directors consider that there has been no event since the end of the financial year that has a 
significant effect on the position of the Society.
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Country-by-Country 
Reporting
The reporting obligations set out in Article 89 of the European Union’s Capital 
Requirements Directive IV have been implemented in the United Kingdom by 
the Capital Requirements (‘Country-by-Country Reporting’) Regulations.
 

As a mutual organisation, the Society’s primary focus is its Members and it aims to provide mortgage 
and savings products supported by excellent customer service. Details of the principal activities are 
detailed in note 1 to the Annual Report and Accounts.

For the year ended 31 October 2024
The Society’s Annual Report and Accounts report:

•	 Total operating income was £6.19m (2023 £6.59m);

•	 Total operating income is defined as net interest income plus fees and commissions receivable (net 
of fees and commissions payable);

•	 Profit before tax was £1.35m (2023: £2.07m) all of which arising from United Kingdom based 
activity;

•	 The average number of Society full time equivalent employees was 45 (2023: 41) all of which were 
employed in the United Kingdom;

•	 Corporation tax of £0.64m was paid in the year (Comprising of £0.26m relating to 2023 and 
£0.38m payment on account for 2024), and is all within the United Kingdom tax jurisdiction; and.

•	 No public subsidies were received in the year.

Note 1 to the 2024 Annual Report and Accounts details the basis of preparation relating to going 
concern and accounting policies.
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Independent Auditors’ Report 
To the Directors
Report on the audit of the country-by-country information
Opinion
In our opinion, The Stafford Railway Building Society’s country-by-country information for the year 
ended 31st October 2024 has been properly prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the 
requirements of the Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013.

We have audited the country-by-country information for the year ended 31st October 2024 in the 
Country-by-Country Report.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”), 
including ISA (UK) 800 and ISA (UK) 805, and applicable law. Our responsibilities under ISAs (UK) are 
further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the country-by-country information 
section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence
We remained independent of the society in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant 
to our audit of the country-by-country information in the UK, which includes the FRC’s Ethical Standard, 
as applicable to public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements.

Emphasis of matter - Basis of preparation
In forming our opinion on the country-by-country information, which is not modified, we draw attention 
to the basis of preparation note of the country-by-country information which describes the basis 
of preparation. The country-by-country information is prepared for the directors for the purpose 
of complying with the requirements of the Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) 
Regulations 2013. The country-by-country information has therefore been prepared in accordance with 
a special purpose framework and, as a result, the country-by-country information may not be suitable 
for another purpose.

Conclusions relating to going concern
Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the company’s ability to continue to adopt the going 
concern basis of accounting included:

•	 We critically assessed the directors’ conclusions on their going concern assessment, including any 
key assumptions used by the directors in their determination of the going concern of the Society;

•	 We reviewed the impact of management’s stress test scenarios and considered the likelihood 
of successful implementation of management actions to mitigate the impacts. We considered 
whether the Society would continue to operate above required regulatory capital and liquidity 
minima during times of stress;

•	 We challenged the reasonableness of the scenarios used by the directors in their going concern 
assessment and checked the appropriateness of the assumptions used within their forecasting;

•	 Corroborated legal and regulatory correspondence with audit procedures performed to ensure 
that there are no compliance issues which may impact the going concern of the society; and

•	 We evaluated management’s disclosures in the Annual Report and checked the consistency of the 
disclosures with our knowledge of the Society based on our audit.
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Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to 
events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the society’s ability to 
continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from the date on which the country-
by-country information is authorised for issue.

In auditing the country-by-country information, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going 
concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the country-by-country information is appropriate. 

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this conclusion is not a 
guarantee as to the society’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described 
in the relevant sections of this report.

Responsibilities for the country-by-country information and the audit

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the country-by-country information
It is our responsibility to report on whether the country-by-country information has been properly 
prepared in accordance with the relevant requirements of the Capital Requirements (Country-by-
Country Reporting) Regulations 2013. 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the country-by-country information 
as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of this country-by-country information.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design 
procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of 
irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, 
including fraud, is detailed below. 

Based on our understanding of the society/industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-
compliance with laws and regulations related to breaches of UK regulatory principles such as those 
governed by the Prudential Regulation Authority, and we considered the extent to which non-
compliance might have a material effect on the country-by-country information. We also considered 
those laws and regulations that have a direct impact on the country-by-country information such as 
applicable tax legislation and the Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 
2013. We evaluated management’s incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the 
country-by-country information (including the risk of override of controls), and determined that the 
principal risks were related to posting of inappropriate journal entries to increase revenue or reduce 
expenditure and management bias in accounting estimates. Audit procedures performed included:

•	 Review of correspondence with and to regulators;
•	 Testing of significant accounting estimates;
•	 Testing of journals entries with unusual account combinations and other specific risk based criteria 

back to corroborating evidence;
•	 Discussions with management in relation to known or suspected incidents of fraud;
•	 Review of board minutes and attendance at audit committees where known or suspected 

incidents of non-compliance with laws and regulation and fraud would be discussed; and
•	 Review of internal audit reports in so far as they related to the annual accounts.
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There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above. We are less likely to become 
aware of instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events 
and transactions reflected in the country-by-country information. Also, the risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as 
fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or 
through collusion.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the country-by-country information is located 
on the FRC’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our 
auditors’ report.

Use of this report
This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the society’s directors in 
accordance with the Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013 and 
for no other purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other 
purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come, save 
where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Manchester
17 December 2024
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Annual Business Statement
For the year ended 31 October 2024
1.  Statutory Percentages

Percentage as at
31 Oct 2024 %

Statutory 
Limit %

Proportion of business assets not in the form of loans fully secured on residential 
property (the ‘Lending limit’)

0.20 25

Proportion of shares and deposits not in the form of shares held by individuals (the 
‘Funding limit’)

4.87 50

The percentages are calculated in accordance with, and the statutory limits are those prescribed by,

Sections 6 and 7 of the Building Societies Act 1986 as amended by the Building Societies Act 1997.

Business assets are the total assets of the Society as shown in the balance sheet plus collective loan loss 
impairment less fixed assets and liquid assets.

Loans fully secured on residential property are the amount of the principal owing by borrowers and 
interest accrued not yet payable. This is the amount shown in the balance sheet plus collective loan loss 
impairment.

2.  Other Percentages

31 Oct 2024 
%

31 Oct 2023
%

Gross capital as a percentage of share and deposit liabilities 9.28 9.43

Free capital as a percentage of share and deposit liabilities 9.19 9.34

Liquid assets as a percentage of share and deposit liabilities 29.11 29.92

Cost / income ratio 78.71 66.18

Cost / income ratio - Including IT costs 81.04 66.18

As a percentage of mean assets:

Profit for the financial year 0.32 0.53

Administrative expenses 1.54 1.46

Administrative expenses - IT costs 1.59 1.46

The percentages overleaf have been prepared from the Society’s Accounts and in particular:

•	 Shares and deposits represent the total of shares, amounts owed to credit institutions and 
amounts owed to other customers.

•	 Gross capital represents the general reserves including the available-for-sale reserve.
•	 Free capital represents the aggregate of gross capital and collective loan loss impairment less 

tangible fixed assets.
•	 Mean total assets represents the amount produced by halving the aggregate of total assets at the 

beginning and end of the financial year.
•	 Liquid assets represent the total cash in hand, treasury bills, loans, advances to credit institutions 

and debt securities and funds held in the Society’s Bank of England reserve accounts.
•	 Administrative expenses represent the aggregate of administrative expenses, depreciation and 

amortisation.
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3. Information relating to the Directors at 31 October 2024

Name Occupation and Date of 
Appointment

Other Directorships

Joanne Hindle, LLB 
Chair

Non-Executive Director 
24.03.21

Bank of London and Middle East
Co-op Funeral Plans Limited
GT Bank UK

David J Grant, MBA FCIB FISMM FRSA  
Senior Independent Director

Company Director and Consultant 
22.05.17

BLAKK Limited
Stonebridge Mortgage Solutions Limited

Ian A Craig Non-Executive and Director and 
Trustee 24.02.22

Willowbrook Hospice, St Helens
The Brain Charity, Liverpool
Medical and Dental Defence Union of Scotland, Glasgow

Gary C D Crowe, FCIM CAifs ACIB 
MCIBS

Management Consultant 
20.07.15

University Hospitals of North Midlands NHS Trust
The Dudley Group of Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

Jonathan G Farrington, BSc MSc MBA 
Cert Dip AF

Professor of Practice 
Director 01.05.24

Nottingham University Business School
Farrington Associates Limited

Ray JH Milne, BSc FFA C.Act Non-Executive Director and Trustee
01.05.24

Horton Housing Association
Horton Housing Support Limited
Bradford Base Social Enterprise Company Limited

Alison Tattersall, BA DipM Non-Executive and Director and 
Trustee  24.02.22

The People’s Dispensary for Sick Animals
University Hospital of Southampton

Steven Jones, BSc DBA MBA FCA Chief Executive 
06.06.18

Newcastle and Stafford Colleges Group
The Staffordshire Yeomanry Museum Trust

Matthew D Rowell, BA(Hons.) FCA Chief Financial Officer
07.10.24

The South East Stafford Academy Trust
Walton Multi-Academy Trust

Robert I Hassall, BSc (Hons.) CeMap Chief Operating Officer
01.11.23

The Nexus Learning Trust

Documents may be served on the above Directors C/O PwC LLP, No.1 Spinningfields, 1 Hardman Square, Manchester M3 3EB. 

Service Contracts: None of the Non-Executive Directors has a service contract. Steven Jones and 
Matthew Rowell are employed under a contract that is terminable by either the Society or the Director 
on twelve months’ and six months’ notice respectively.

Society Officers and Qualifications Occupation Directorships

C.J.Bennett BA (Hons), FMAAT Finance Manager -

B.R.Palfreyman BA (Hons), CeMap Head of Mortgage Underwriting -

M.N.Davies BA (Hons), FCCA, FCT Head of Risk, MLRO and Secretary Staffordshire Cricket Limited

R.Dulson BA (Hons), CeMap, Assoc. 
CIPD

Head of Human Resources and 
Communications

-

H.M.Hamilton IT Change Consultant -

G.C. Hawkins, BSc Head of Technology and Change 
Management

-

S.J. Hendley, FCCA Head of Finance -

G. Palmer Branch Manager -

L.E. Lawton BA (Hons), CeMap Head of Mortgage Sales -

C. Thornley-Yates, BA (Hons), Advanced 
CeMap, MSc

Head of Commercial Development and 
Distribution

-

The Officers of the Society are referred to as Senior Management and, along with the Executive Directors, constitute the Leadership Team.
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